

FINAL REPORT

EAS NG R E 9 GIES BEING ||IEY REGION

Citation

Morrison, N., McIntyre, E., Reynolds, N., Al Qayem, R., & Harris, P. (2021) *Increasing Resilience to Climate Change (IRCC) Project: Review of Local Council Strategies for Climate, Health & Wellbeing in the Western Sydney Region*. Western Sydney University.

DOI: 10.26183/7fen-fy59 URL: https://doi.org/10.26183/7fen-fy59



This project has been proudly funded by the New South Wales Government in association with Local Government NSW.

Contents

Acknowledgement of Country	
Introduction	2
Background	2
Purpose and objective	3
Method	
Document analysis	3
Interviews	
Participants	
Recruitment and data collection	5
Data analysis	5
Results	5
Document analysis summary	5
Interviews: preliminary findings	
The Framework Policy Action Areas	
Barriers, enablers, and solutions	
Preliminary conclusions and recommendations	
References	40
Appendix	46

Tables and Figures

Table 1. Participant professional characteristics	4
Table 2. Document analysis summary	6
Table 3. Planning documents reviewed per Council and Local Health District	17

Acknowledgement of Country

The Western Parkland Councils are located on the Country of the Darkinjung, Dharawal, Dharug and Gundungurra peoples who we acknowledge as the Traditional Owners of the lands in this region. We recognise that the traditional owners have occupied and cared for this Country over countless generations and celebrate their continuing contribution to the life of this region. We pay our respects to Elders past and present and recognise the strength and resilience of past and present Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in the Western Parklands City region.

Introduction

Background

Living with the impacts of a changing climate is one of the greatest challenges to public health (Watts et al., 2021). Climate impacts such as heat waves, air pollution and biodiversity loss pose health risks that have a significant social and economic burden (Climate and Health Alliance, 2017). Like many places internationally, the Western Sydney Region has been hit by climate impacts with a succession of natural disasters such as bush fires, flood, and drought. These impacts have been amplified by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has highlighted the importance of urban design in health prevention and promotion. These impacts place additional pressures on the planning system in the Greater Sydney area, which is grappling with the needs of a rapidly changing population (e.g., culturally diverse, aging, growing health inequities). The climate impacts experienced in Western Sydney have emphasised how the health of the environment and human health and wellbeing are inextricably linked and that a long-term approach to planning in this region is essential for reducing climate risks and promoting public health.

The importance and urgency of creating sustainable healthy urban environments that reduce climate risk and support human health and wellbeing is well recognised internationally (UN-Habitat and World Health Organization, 2020); however, there remain significant challenges to achieving this in the Western Sydney Region. Being able to effectively address the impact of climate on health requires consideration of the complex systems within built and natural environments (e.g., housing, transport, food, education, healthcare, biodiverse ecosystems) and how they interrelate (UN-Habitat and World Health Organization, 2020). This complexity is a key challenge requiring interdisciplinary collaboration across multiple sectors, such as built environment and health professionals, academics, policy makers, and government and non-government organisations. Creating healthy places also requires policy and processes that support these collaborations and prioritise health and wellbeing at the state and local government level. Divergent and convergent dynamics between stakeholders (individuals, professionals, organisations) responsible for urban planning and health, and government structures, policies, and process present additional challenges and opportunities for developing and implementing healthy and sustainable planning strategies (Freestone & Wheeler, 2015).

There is some collaboration occurring between various sectors, yet there remains a disconnect between planning and health in the Sydney region. While planners and other built environment professionals understand the importance of and impact of planning on public health and the environment (Morrison et al., 2021), reference to health considerations within Sydney local council planning policies tends to be implicit rather than explicit (Hirono et al., 2017). There are also state planning policies that can override local policy. Growth focused planning policies, such as the *Greater Sydney Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities* (Greater Sydney Commission, 2018), can make it challenging for local councils to address health and wellbeing impacts from climate risk. Conversely, growth planning policies can also present opportunities for creating healthy cities.

The Western Parkland City, conceptualised in the Greater Sydney Region Plan, spans eight Local Government Areas in the Western Sydney Region (Blue Mountains, Camden, Campbelltown, Fairfield, Hawkesbury, Liverpool, Penrith, Wollondilly) and is one of the fastest growing areas in Australia (Morrison and Van Den Nouwelant 2020). The Western Sydney City Deal is a partnership with the Australian Commonwealth and NSW State Government, the eight Western Parkland Councils providing a platform to "deliver transformative change to shape the region to become an epicentre for liveability in Sydney" (The Department of Infrastructure, 2020). The Western Sydney Health Alliance (WSHA) has been established as deliverable L5 Liveability under the Western Sydney City Deal (WSHA, 2021). The WSHA is a collaboration with the eight Western Parkland Councils and health sector organisations; South Western Sydney Local Health District, Nepean Blue Mountains

Local Health District, Nepean Blue Mountains Primary Health Network, South Western Sydney Primary Health Network, and Sector Connect. This collaboration allows these organisations to learn from each other and develop actions to improve local resilience to a changing climate. The Western Parklands City and the work of the WSHA across government agencies within that region presents an unprecedented opportunity for innovation to improve health and wellbeing and share knowledge among the Local Government Areas (LGAs), and across NSW and beyond. The Western Parklands Councils are the focus of this report.

The Framework for a National Strategy on Climate, Health and Well-being (Climate and Health Alliance, 2017) has identified seven key policy areas to assist all sectors to reduce climate risk, increase community resilience and address the determinants of health and wellbeing:

- 1. Health-promoting and emissions-reducing policies
- 2. Emergency and disaster-preparedness
- 3. Supporting healthy and resilient communities
- 4. Education and capacity building
- 5. Leadership and governance
- 6. A sustainable and climate-resilient health care sector
- 7. Research and data

This Framework can further support the collaboration within the WSHA and between the health and planning sectors across NSW and Australia to addressing climate risk and health impacts.

Purpose and objective

This Local Government NSW funded project focusses on identifying how local councils in the Western Parkland City have addressed climate risk and resilience within their policies and plans, and uncovering the barriers and enablers of planning, implementing, and evaluating climate risk and resilience strategies within the Western Parkland City.

The intent of this research is to inform the development of guidance and tools to assist the development and implementation of strategies and action plans to reduce the impact of climate on health and wellbeing across the Western Parkland City. The project used the wide local council networks of the WSHA to ascertain if policy action areas identified in the Framework for a National Strategy on Climate, Health and Wellbeing (Climate and Health Alliance, 2017) could be translated into local council and health service strategies and action plans across the Western Parkland City region.

Research Methods

The research entailed in-depth document analysis and stakeholder interviews, with the aim of developing a detailed understanding of climate and health impact mitigation and adaptation across the region. The focus was on the professional and organisational processes used by local councils, local health districts and primary health networks when planning, implementing, and evaluating climate and health resilience policy and strategies.

The investigation focused on the policy action areas identified in the Framework for a National Strategy on Climate, Health and Well-being (Climate and Health Alliance, 2017), see Appendix 1. The framework provides benchmarks for directions and opportunities to enable collaboration across multiple sectors and portfolios in addressing climate resilience and its impact on health.

Document analysis

A document audit of relevant publicly available council policies and planning documents was undertaken. This analysis aimed to identify how current council policies and strategies are addressing climate risk and resilience and the impact on community health and wellbeing. The analysis also aimed to identify the drivers, gaps and would demonstrate what is required to inform climate and health resilience work of the Western Parkland Councils (i.e., Blue Mountains City Council, Camden City Council, Campbelltown City Council, Fairfield City Council, Hawkesbury City Council, Liverpool City Council, Penrith City Council, and Wollondilly Shire Council). The council documents reviewed in this research were core plans and strategies developed by Councils as part of the regulatory and legislative responsibilities, and related guidance documents informed by these core plans and strategies. Each document is an opportunity for climate risks and health impacts, and sustainability strategies to be clearly articulated and influence the business of councils including Local Strategic Planning Statements, Local Environmental Plans, Development Control Plans, Community Strategic Plans, Operational Plans, Delivery Plans, and other strategic planning and development policies. See Appendix 2 for a summary of the documents reviewed for each council.

Interviews

Participants

Interviews were conducted with key stakeholders (N = 22) who had a key role in the planning, implementation, or evaluation of community health and wellbeing and climate risk and resilience strategies within each of the eight Western Parkland Councils). Table 1 details the number of participants per council.

Number interviewed	Area/s of responsibility
3	 Community/library services Community resilience Sustainability Strategic planning Waste management
2	City DealSustainability
3	City strategyNatural areas managementResilience planning
4	 Catchment management Catchment planning Land use planning Sustainability Traffic and asset management
3	 Community planning and partnerships Strategic planning Sustainability
1	Urban design
3	 Social strategy Strategic planning Sustainability and resilience
	3 2 3 4 3

Table 1. Participant professional characteristics

Council	Number interviewed	Area/s of responsibility
Wollondilly Shire Council	3	 Community outcomes/services Parks and gardens management Strategic planning Water and catchment management

Recruitment and data collection

Stakeholders were recruited purposively based on their role in the planning, implementation, or evaluation of community health and wellbeing and climate risk and resilience strategies in local councils within the Western City Parkland area. City Deal Lead Officers from each of the councils were contacted by the Project Coordinator who nominated eligible participants based on their role within the organisation. Participants did not receive an incentive for participating.

A semi-structured interview guide using open-ended questions (see Appendix 3) was used with probing questions as needed to encourage richer responses. Two researchers conducted the interviews.

Data analysis

Interviews were professionally transcribed and deidentified. The research team imported transcripts into NVivo 12 to code and organise the data.

We systematically developed themes across the deidentified data. Key themes and their descriptions were identified a-priori to meet the analytic objectives of the study. Against these a-priori categories, additional findings were developed to provide a more nuanced description. Thematic definitions and categories were revised as links between concepts were developed. Themes were checked against the data throughout the analysis.

Results

Document analysis summary

146 council documents across the eight councils, and four documents from two local health districts were reviewed. See Appendix 2 for a summary of the documents reviewed for each council and local health district. The findings are presented as key findings reflecting the themes that occurred across the council documents, and as summaries of each council's core planning documents (see Table 2).

Table 2. Document analysis summary

Local Strategic Planning Statement	Blue Mountains City Council (BMCC) illustrates a strong commitment to the sustainability of the natural environment in their LSPS (Blue Mountains City Council, 2020a). Importantly, they employ a planetary health approach to the future conditions of development. This unique understanding of development practices highlights the need to recognise the interdependence between natural and human systems. BMCC places hard limits on future expansions and urban growth as they have a significant part of their land listed as a World Heritage listed National Park. Thus, BMCC has a clear focus on the need increase environmental sustainability within their LGA.
	Furthermore, BMCC have developed a strong recognition of the need for increasing community resilience to risks from bushfires. This is due to a significant number of suburbs being in proximity to dense bushland. Despite the relatively small urban area as compared to other Council's researched, there also remains a strong commitment to addressing urban heat.
	BMCC highlights the importance of increasing the ability for the community to walk or ride within their LGA. They recognise the benefits this can bring to mental and physical health. Furthermore, the Council also has developed a Community Garden Policy and has stated the role of the Western Sydney Health Alliance as a significant collaborator in improving health and wellbeing to the community.
Local Environmental Plan	 The BMCC Local Environmental Plan (Blue Mountains City Council, 2015b) is quite unique as it provides a large array of additional controls for developments to consider. This is primarily demonstrated through the LEP's aims which promote active transport, sustainable development, and limit a building's exposure to bushfire risks. Further additions and clauses include: Sustainable resource management clause Clause regarding dwelling houses on land in Zone E2 Riparian Lands and Watercourses Map Scenic and Landscape Values Map Natural Resources- Biodiversity Map Natural Resources- Land Map This can be explained through the BMCC's commitment to environmental preservation and protection.
Development Control Plan	Unlike most other DCP's reviewed, the BMCC's DCP (Blue Mountains City Council, 2015a) strongly demonstrates requirements for developments to consider bushfire risks. The Blue Mountains DCP provides a definition for Ecologically Sustainable Development which introduces the idea of inter-generational equity to development considerations. Interesting the UHI effect is mentioned in this DCP within the landscape section. Standard controls regarding landscape management and building on contaminated lands are also included. However, they do not explicitly refer to improving the health and wellbeing on individuals. The term resilience in this document refers to the recovery of an ecosystem. This shows how the same word can have different meanings to different departments within the same council.

Blue Mountains City Council	
Community Strategic Plan	The BMCC CSP (Blue Mountains City Council, 2017a) promotes the idea of a vibrant, healthy, and resilient city. BMCC states that 'better health for all is promoted through preventative action and early intervention, provision of accessible local health services and through supporting people to live active healthy lifestyles' (Blue Mountains City Council, 2017a, p. 36). Health in this plan predominately refers to the access to health services and providing resources which meet the needs of residents. This Plan also shows a commitment to bushfire preparedness, planning for community resilience to natural hazards and increasing access recreational and sporting activities.
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/	BMCC have developed numerous environmental plans and endorsed environmental ideas which address sustainability and resilience. These include:
Resilience)	Water Sensitive Blue Mountains Strategic Plan (Blue Mountains City Council, 2019)
	Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategic Plan 2017-2021 (Blue Mountains City Council, 2017c)
	Street Tree Masterplan
	Carbon Abatement Action Plan
	Rights of Nature Principles
	These plans prioritise the need to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to create more liveable communities. This is prominently understood though the need to improve Council assets and operations. However, there is little mentioned on the direct benefits these will bring to
	improving community health or the recognition of the impact of climate on vulnerable communities. This could be attributed to the fact that these documents were primarily published around the mid 2010's, where health and planning often remained in separated spheres of governance.
	Furthermore, BMCC strongly promotes the need for residents to create a Bushfire Survival Plan. The Council, in conjunction with the NSW Rural Fire Service provides strategies and awareness around being prepared during a bushfire. This again shows how BMCC is committed to increasing the resilience of their local community in response to climate risks.
	Rights of Nature
	In addition, BMCC is the first Council in Australia to adopt the Rights of Nature principles. These principles aim to 'to ensure a safe and healthy future for our planet by encouraging humanity to reorient its relationship with nature, from an essentially exploitative one, to one that recognises the importance of all life on earth' (Blue Mountains City Council, 2021). As a result, these principles will be incorporated into all current and succeeding plans and operations. This further shows BMCC's commitment to environmental preservation and sustainability.

Blue Mountains City Council	
Social Plans (Recreation/ Health)	 With the social plans developed by BMCC, broad statements about community health benefits are showcased within their aims and executive summaries. The strategies analysed included the: Creative Strategy 2020-2027 (draft) (Blue Mountains City Council, 2020b) Blue Mountains Bike Plan 2020 (Blue Mountains City Council, 2016) Blue Mountains Pedestrian Access & Mobility Plan 2025 (Blue Mountains City Council, 2016) Open Space and Recreation Strategic Plan 2018–2028 (Blue Mountains City Council, 2018) Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017-2021 (Blue Mountains City Council, 2017b) The Blue Mountains Bike Plan 2020 highlights the health benefits that cycling can have. This includes, improved physical activity levels with a reduction of diabetes and obesity rates, a decrease in public health costs linked with physical inactivity and a reduction in greenhouse gases due to less car trips. In addition, in their pedestrian strategy BMCC acknowledges the health challenges in their LGA, including higher rates of chronic illnesses diabetes, breast cancer, higher socio-economic inequalities which can lead to poorer health outcomes and an increasing number of older individuals.
	This focus on community health is further reiterated in their Open Space and Recreation Strategic Plan 2018–2028 which provides the benefits that physical activity can have on community health. As a result, numerous actions were developed in these plans which include providing walkable neighbourhoods, and increasing connected paths, opportunities for active recreation and access to sporting facilities. However, there remains a lack of attention given to climate risks within these plans and the role they play in impacting resilience to community health and wellbeing.
	Statement of Recognition and Commitment
	Furthermore, BMCC have released a Statement of Recognition and Commitment (Blue Mountains City Council, 2021), which will be used to address Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander reconciliation and caring for Country. This will then be implemented across numerous strategic plans.
Development Plans (Economic/ Centres)	The development and economic plans identified from this study, echo the points raised in the social plans. This includes the promotion of health and wellbeing through active transport and recreational and sporting facilities. Furthermore, health is primarily understood in its role in contributing to the economy. However, like other development plans there remains a strong emphasis on economic sustainability with little attention given to climate risks, except for bushfires. Furthermore, BMCC receives a considerable amount of revenue from tourism which can take priority away from understanding the role of community health.

Camden Council	
Local Strategic Planning Statement	Camden Council's LSPS (Camden Council, 2020a) echoes many of the points raised in the LSPS's of the other Western Parkland City Local Councils. There is the common understanding of the need to improve the health and wellbeing of the community and reduce the impacts from climate risks. Camden Council highlights the importance of healthy placemaking principles. This includes increasing walkability which in turn can increase levels of physical activity which provides health benefits for individuals. The Council also states, 'Co-locating health and social services within town centres improves and encourages access to these services which can lead to the prevention of, and early intervention in, serious health conditions.' (Camden Council, 2020, p. 46). Camden also highlights that these services can reduce social isolation in new greenfield communities.
	Camden Council highlights the need to protect green and blue grids. The Council emphasises the benefits that these grids can have including increasing walking and cycling connections and reducing the impacts from urban heat. Camden Council's states that considerations should be undertaken for vulnerable people in their community regarding how they could be impacted by urban heat. These include elderly individuals, people with health conditions or have restricted mobility. Camden Council then illustrates ways to combat this issue of urban heat through numerous actions. For example, they state how urban farming, including rooftop and community gardens can combat this issue. The Council's understanding of these environmental dimensions can be contributed from the influence of the State Government with their focus on preserving green grids and setting tree canopy targets.
	In addition, there is also the recognition of the need to improve resilience to hazards and extreme weather. This includes adapting to bushfires, floods, and heatwaves. Importantly, the term resilience is more often used to describe climate risks and environmental hazards.
Local Environmental Plan	 The Camden LEP (Camden Council, 2010) provides overarching aims which address climate risks and health. These include the need: (b) to ensure that new communities are planned and developed in an orderly, integrated, and sustainable manner and contribute to the social, environmental, and economic sustainability of Camden
	 (d) to minimise the impact on existing and future communities of natural hazards such as bush fires and flooding (k) to provide for a built environment that contributes to the health and wellbeing of existing and future residents of Camden' (NSW Government, 2021).
	However, there are little considerations given to environmental dimensions in these development controls. This includes a current lack of maps which show areas of environmental protection.
Development Control Plan	Like other DCP's, the Camden DCP (Camden Council, 2019a) primarily focused on planning controls for vegetation management, mitigating flood and bushfire risks and providing requirements for building on contaminated lands. Little attention is given to community health or wellbeing.

Camden Council	
Community Strategic Plan	One of the key directions for the Camden CSP (Camden Council, 2017) is in creating a 'Healthy urban and Natural Environment'. This is also in line with creating 'An Enriched and Connected Community'. There remains a strong environmental focus on sustainability through managing growth and preserving the natural environment. However, within this Plan these broad statements do not always substantially equate to detailed strategies which directly aim to strengthen community health. In addition, there is little attention given to climate risks such as flooding and bushfire.
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/ Resilience etc)	 Camden Council have developed a few plans and strategies which address the environmental dimension. These include: Sustainability Strategy 2020-24 (Camden Council, 2020d) Local Biodiversity Strategy Camden Local Government Area (Camden Council, 2013) Waste Management Guideline (Camden Council, 2019b) Built for Comfort Design Guide (Camden Council, n.d.) These plans have primarily focused on the environmental sustainability of natural ecosystems. Their Sustainability Strategy provides the most detail regarding the need to recognise the need to increase sustainability. This includes increasing community awareness, improving the sustainability of Council operations, developing design guides which promote sustainable communities and improving resilience to the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing. Their strategies cover a variety of aspects which incorporate the need to expand current programs, development additional strategies, and reviewing planning controls.

Social Plans (Recreation/ Health)	Spaces and Places Strategy
	Camden Council's Spaces and Places Strategy (Camden Council, 2020c) brings to light the benefits that social infrastructure can have on health. Camden Council (2020c, p. 18) states that social infrastructure can create:
	Opportunities to interact with nature can provide positive mental health benefits for children, young people, and adults, including minimising anxiety and stress
	Spaces for physical activity, including walking, cycling, team sports and other recreational activities can improve the physical health and wellbeing of communities.
	They also state that social infrastructure will be:
	 Encouraging social equity by providing access to services and facilities to all members of the community regardless of age, gender, social economic status, ethnicity, or ability Providing opportunities for social interaction which is critical for creating and maintaining community cohesion As this strategy was endorsed in 2020, it demonstrates a significant shift in Council's focus through a recognition of its role in improving community health and wellbeing. However, this strategy does not fully explore the role that climate risks can have on use of this social infrastructure and how that can impact on physical and mental health.
	Camden Disability Inclusion Action Plan
	Within their Disability Inclusion Action Plan there is a strong commitment through the creation of liveable communities. This is primarily understood through the implementation of universal design. However, along with all Councils researched, less focus is given towards the health impacts from climate risks on people with disabilities.

Camden Council

Development Plans Local Housing Strategy (draft)

(Economic/Centres)

Camden's draft Local Housing Strategy (Camden Council, 2020b) provides an in-depth exploration and recognition the importance of increasing the health of the community through the built environment. This includes an understanding of the role Council can have in reducing certain lifestyle diseases. This is clearly encapsulated through the quote:

The built environment influences both individual and community health and wellbeing. Good access to safe, connected streets linked to services, green open spaces and shared community facilities promotes walking and cycling, and generates positive mental health outcomes through enabling social interaction and increasing exposure to nature. The shape of the urban landscape affects the prevalence of many lifestyles and chronic diseases, including obesity, type 2 diabetes, and heart disease (Camden Council, 2020, p. 75).

As the Camden LGA is expected to receive significant growth over the next decade, their Local Housing Strategy will help strengthen the resilience of current and future communities. This is further demonstrated through Priority Action 13 which aims to improve access to walkability to improve the health of future neighbourhoods. The Western Sydney Health Alliance is mentioned as a key stakeholder in this process. When Camden Council's Local Housing Strategy comes into effect it will cement Council's role in improve resilience and community wellbeing.

It also needs to be stated that there remains the dominance of the economic directions within this plan and other. This can then divert the Council's priorities in improving community health and resilience to climate risks.

Campbelltown City Council	
Local Strategic Planning Statement	Campbelltown City Council (CCC) promotes the need for ensuring sustainable development in their LSPS (Campbelltown City Council, 2020). The Council will take a leadership role in their approach to supporting and enhancing their natural environment and sustainability of their community. CCC has developed the numerous sustainability planning priorities which aim to not only protect the natural environment but also enhance it. Furthermore, there is the awareness of the need manage the use of finite resources, which includes the preservation agricultural land and the need for more sustainable waste management. These planning priorities seek to use innovative technologies to improve environmental sustainability and ensures that best practice occurs for developments.
	In addition, CCC emphasises the need to adapt to the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing. There is the understanding of climate hazards such as bushfire, floods, and heatwaves. The UHI effect is stated as a significant issue and there is the need to mitigate its impacts. CCC provides an extensive list of recommendations and actions to combat these climate issues. Their actions primarily revolve around altering planning controls, increasing incentives for UHI management strategies in development, implementing an Urban Forest Strategy and updating strategic plans to incorporate climate risks. CCC also undertook a Heat Study Project, and their findings were included in this report. There is a significant recognition on how urban heat can impact vulnerable populations including, elderly individuals, babies, and people with chronic illness or who are disadvantaged. Overall, CCC highlights the impacts that climate risks are having on their LGA and on community health and provide a detailed and thorough list of actions to combat these challenges.
	The GSC have also worked in conjunction with CCC to create the Campbelltown- Macarthur Place Strategy, under the principles of the GSC which include connectivity, liveability, productivity, and sustainability. This strategy identifies the need to increase walking and cycling, create a lively city centre that promotes health and wellbeing, develop a blue-green grid strategy, reduce urban heat, and create an Urban Heat, Air Quality and Population Health Strategy and Management Plan. Within the productivity section there is the recognition of need for collaboration between health districts, universities, and Council in reducing health issues of the region including, 'diabetes, mental health, Indigenous health, paediatrics and cancer' (Greater Sydney Commission, 2020, p. 38). This Plan provides a wide variety of strategic objectives for this area; however, as it was recently adopted, it remains to be seen how the implementation of these objectives takes place.
Local Environmental Plan	 The Campbelltown LEP (Campbelltown City Council, 2015b) promotes sustainability and wellbeing, primarily through their aims. These aims state: (a) to provide a comprehensive planning framework for the sustainable development of all land in Campbelltown (l) to conserve and enhance the environmental, scenic and landscape values of land in Campbelltown (m) to maintain, protect and improve the natural environment including biodiversity and water resources (q) to foster environmental, economic, social, and physical well-being so that Campbelltown develops as an integrated, balanced and sustainable city (NSW Government, 2021). The Campbelltown LEP also provides additional restrictions on where exempt and complying development can take place. Furthermore, their LEP provides clauses on the preservation of the natural environment and on flood planning. There is also a Terrestrial Biodiversity Map.

Campbelltown City Council	
Development Control Plan	The Campbelltown DCP (Campbelltown City Council, 2015a) aims to encourage better development throughout the LGA though sustainable building design. Their DCP supports the idea of creating a built form that supports the wellbeing of the community and residents. Like most other DCP's reviewed there is little attention given to climate risks and health.
Community Strategic Plan	The Council's CSP (Campbelltown City Council, 2017a) aims to support their communities, protect natural biodiversity, visual landscapes, heritage values, and recognises the importance of creating a sustainable and resilient communities for future generations. The Council aims to ensure that development in their LGA is sustainable and resilient. As part of the 100 Resilient Cities initiative, CCC have identified pressures that the LGA faces which include a need to reduce housing unaffordability and the rates of chronic illnesses.
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/ Resilience)	Sustainability Strategy CCC's Sustainability Strategy (Campbelltown City Council, 2015c) demonstrates an understanding of the need to increase sustainability in relation to the quadruple bottom line. CCC highlights the need for sustainable energy and water consumption, sustainable waste management and land management. There is also the need to support sustainable communities. Their aims of this strategy include promoting food security with access to locally grown produce, investigating the inclusion of community gardens, and to develop and facilitate sustainability workshops for the community.
	There is also the recognition of sustainable transport which can reduce air pollution, thus improving air quality and providing health benefits. Cycle connectivity through the LGA is also a major goal of CCC. Sustainability of Council functions and activities is also heavily promoted through this strategy. This includes the promotion of sound governance and leading sustainability initiatives by example. Education of council officers and the community is also given considerable attention. This is strengthened by their Environmental Education Strategy.
	Furthermore, CCC is currently developing a Resilient Campbelltown Strategy which aims to strengthen the resilience of the community. This will be developed in relation to the 100 Resilient Cities initiative, which many Councils in Sydney have joined.

Campbelltown City Co	buncil
Social Plans (Recreation/ Health)	Sport and recreation strategy Campbelltown's Sports and Recreation Strategy (Campbelltown City Council, 2017b) has provided a detailed plan for future development of their LGA to the include recreation spaces, parks, and community facilities. This is all to create new opportunities to engage with a healthy lifestyle. These objectives aim at improving mental and physical health through the provision of open spaces and opportunities to connect with the local community. This Plan will provide opportunities for all individuals, 'regardless of age, gender, culture, income or physical ability' (Campbelltown City Council, 2017, p. 3). However, there is little recognition of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing regarding the community's access to sports and recreation centres.
	Campbelltown Bicycle Plan CCC has also provided a comprehensive strategy to encourage cycle transport (Campbelltown City Council, 2010). This is an attempt to replace car-based trips with active transport in their LGA. Their aims to create a bicycle network are rooted in the provision of a safe, healthy, and attractive environment for all uses. This document stressors the importance of understanding broader global climate trends, primarily through the need to reduce greenhouses gases and the reliance on liquid petroleum. There is little understanding of how urban heat and climate stressors could discourage cycling or impact human health.
Development Plans (Economic/Centres)	Campbelltown's Economic Development Strategy heavily focuses on key economic centres and job targets. There is little consideration for environmental impacts and climate risks. Health and wellbeing remain vague and up to interpretation within this Strategy.
	The Reimagining Campbelltown City Centre Master Plan illustrates Council led actions from the Campbelltown-Macarthur Collaboration Area document. This Plan demonstrates that with the growth in population within the region, there is the need to support the health industry. Providing green spaces which encourage healthy lifestyles, enhancing waterways, reducing urban heat through a low carbon and waste future are all supported in this document. There is also the need to encourage passive recreation to increase physical and mental wellbeing.

Fairfield City Council	
Local Strategic Planning Statement	Fairfield City Council's (FCC) LSPS (Fairfield City Council, 2020) presents a general knowledge of the impacts of climate risks and the need to improve sustainability within their LGA. Their Statement highlights numerous elements and processes which should be altered to protect the natural environment and promote community wellbeing. The Council has designed holistic approach to strategic planning to achieve environmental outcomes for their local area. With this broader approach, the recognition of health impacts from climate risks and the creation of healthy communities becomes vague. This then can lead to actions which can be easily misinterpreted.
	Environmentally, FCC demonstrates the need for protecting natural environments and landscapes as well as adapting to climate risks, including urban heat. This can be achieved through increasing tree canopy cover, developing Public Domain Plans, and amending planning controls in the LEP and DCP. However, there remains the strong focus on economic development and urban expansion.
Local Environmental Plan	The Fairfield LEP (Fairfield City Council, 2013b) provides adequate controls for environmental conservation but provides minimal to no recognition of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing. Their LEP provides additional clauses on terrestrial biodiversity, riparian land, and watercourses (with supporting maps) as well as flood planning.
Development Control Plan	Fairfield DCPs' (Fairfield City Council, 2013a) aim to encourage better development throughout the LGA whilst also preserving the community's lifestyle and enjoyment of town centres and neighbourhoods. The term "climate change" is often thrown into the objectives for landscaping requirements. However, it is unclear how such developments would specifically implement these objectives into their design. Furthermore, there is little given to improving community wellbeing.
Community Strategic Plan	FCC's CSP (Fairfield City Council, 2012) aims to increase community's resilience to the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing within their local area. A strong focus on community wellbeing is demonstrated in this plan, primarily through supporting active and healthy lifestyles. This is supported through a detailed approach to environmental sustainability and the need to reduce their ecological footprint. The strategies in their CSP again remain quite broad in nature. For example, FCC states they will 'Monitor temperature changes and impacts on community health' (Fairfield City Council, 2012, p. 33). However, there is little understanding of how this will be accomplished.
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/ Resilience etc)	FCC provides both a Stormwater Management Policy (Fairfield City Council, 2017) and Fairfield Biodiversity Strategy. These documents provide a detailed understanding of sustainability, within their respective professional areas. However, there is little recognition of the impacts of climate on community health and wellbeing.
Social Plans	Fairfield Open Space Strategy
(Recreation/ Health)	Fairfield's Open Space Strategy (Fairfield City Council, 2007) is primarily understood through a developer contributions framework. The provision of open space for recreation is broadly linked with the creation of healthy communities.

Fairfield City Council	
Development Plans (Economic/Centres)	The Fairfield Economic Development Strategy 2019 Update (Fairfield City Council, 2019) and the Fairfield City Centres Policy (Fairfield City Council, 2015) provides little in the way of integrating climate risks into economic realm. Health is primarily defined as a healthy economy or through reference to improving the health sector, economically. The Western Sydney Health Alliance was also mentioned in the economic strategy.
	Rural Land Study
	FCC's Rural Land Urban Investigation Area aims determine how future urban expansion will take place (Fairfield City Council, 2018). As it is earl in development there has been little in the way of reducing climate impacts or improving community health and wellbeing. However, significar green corridors will be protected. While not explicitly stated, this can then in turn provide community benefits.

Hawkesbury City Cour	ncil
Local Strategic Planning Statement	Hawkesbury City Council's (HCC) LSPS (Hawkesbury City Council, 2021a) provides a broad understanding and recognition of the need to create healthy urban environments. The Hawkesbury LSPS focuses its attention of adapting to climate risks and stressors such as floods and bushfire. They state, 'Adapting to climate change and mitigating the impacts of urban heat is crucial for the Hawkesbury's future resilience to natural hazards and managing the impacts on human health.' (Hawkesbury City Council, 2021, p. 82). They go on to emphasise that the higher number of heat waves can have significant impacts on vulnerable population such as elderly individuals and people with health conditions.
	Their action plan revolves around continuing to advocate for community preparedness, adopting climate risks and sustainability strategies, along with an urban tree strategy. HSC have taken these factors in determining where future urban growth takes place. This is to make sure that these development areas are not in significant flood or bushfire prone lands. This shows a sense of urgency to address climate risks and to build resilience in the community.
	Interestingly, HCC highlights a significant institutional barrier to the implementation of these sustainability strategies. They state that Council's financial capacity and their ability to advocate for these strategies may limit their ability to implement them. This type of honest understanding demonstrates one of the barriers to implementation that can be applied to other local councils reviewed. It reveals that some actions and objectives these strategic plans may not be implemented, as it can often come down to the prioritisation of resources and funds. This also shows the potential variation in available funds and resources between the eight local governments researched.
Local Environmental Plan	The Hawkesbury LEP (Hawkesbury City Council, 2012) shows a commitment to ecologically sustainable development as well as strong considerations in relation to building on bushfire and flood prone lands. In addition, they also provide both a Terrestrial Biodiversity Map and a Wetlands Map. However, little is provided in the way of improving health and wellbeing of the community.
Development Control Plan	The Hawkesbury DCP (Hawkesbury City Council, 2002) is one of the oldest DCP's still in use of the eight local government researched. While being endorsed in 2002 it has had numerous amendments and alterations since that date. However, the age of the document may reflect the thinking of climate risks at the time. While there is the promotion of Ecologically Sustainable Development and need for protection of the natural environment, there is little attention given to issues such as urban heat or the impact of the built environment on human health. It also must be stated that there are in the process of revising their DCP.
Community Strategic Plan	The mission statement for the Hawkesbury CSP is, 'Hawkesbury City Council leading and working with our community to create a healthy and resilient future.' (Hawkesbury City Council, 2017a, p. 4). This is supported by the key directions of the Strategy. These directions emphasise the need to facilitate active lifestyles by promoting sporting and recreation activities in the community. There is also the need to support disadvantaged groups by providing additional services and facilities. There is however a lack of recognition of the need to manage climate risks and their impacts on health.

Hawkesbury City Council	
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/Resili ence)	HCC's Zero Net Emissions and Water Efficiency Strategy (Hawkesbury City Council, 2021b) is an excellent strategy that aims to reduce Council operation to net zero emissions by 2030. Their strategy primarily aims to create a more resilient power grid with greener suburbs and a zero-waste community led by Council. There is the understanding of the need for cooler communities through greening urban spaces. There is also the recognition of how active transport can reduce carbon emissions, levels of obesity and improve mental health. Overall, while this is primarily a Council initiative for improving Council functions and processes, it highlights an understanding of the need to improve resilience strategies to contribute to better community health.
Social Plans	Hawkesbury Mobility Plan 2010 Bike Plan and Pedestrian Access and Mobility Plan
(Recreation/Health)	This plan (Hawkesbury City Council, 2010), along with similar active transport plans provides a strong case for the need to increase active transport in the community. This is primarily done through an understanding of the benefits to public health which include a reduction in lifestyles and cardiovascular diseases. There is also the understanding of the reduction of greenhouse gases which can occur with reducing motorised transport. HCC provides a strong economic case as well primarily through the reduction in health care costs.
	The Liveability Project
	The Liveability Project which aims at Revitalising Our Town Centres of Richmond, South Windsor and Windsor showcases a set of 'on the ground' actions which reflect the LSPS and Zero Neto Emissions Strategy. HCC aims to increase trees and shade in these three town centres. They will also aim to develop healthy communities is these area through enhancing active transport opportunities whilst also improving physical and mental health.
	Hawkesbury Disability Inclusion Action Plan
	Within the Hawkesbury Disability Inclusion Action Plan (Hawkesbury City Council, 2017b) there is the need to create liveable communities to improve individual mental and physical health and wellbeing. This is tied into their Mental Health Forum which the Council held, which fed into this plan. However, climate risks are not mentioned.
Development Plans (Economic/Centers)	No significant development plans that were identified in this research that significantly addressed climate risks on health. Their current economic plan still in development.

Liverpool City Council	
Local Strategic Planning Statement	Liverpool City Council's (LCC) LSPS (Liverpool City Council, 2020b) provides a comprehensive understanding of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing within their LGA. They have developed planning priorities which address the inclusion of issue of tree canopy, environmental sustainability, and water sensitivity. Planning Priority 15 provides the most detail regarding the management of these issues. The Council also aims to reduce emissions and promote education around sustainability and waste management.
	Liverpool's LSPS highlights the requirements that are needed to strengthen and protect the environment to not only make it visually appealing but also to contribute to health, safety, and well-being of the community. The Council plays a significant role in addressing urban heat and resilience to climate impacts, particularly in implementing measures to reduce the UHI effect and promoting environmental sustainability in development. LCC have developed several comprehensive actions which aim to facilitate this.
	They are in the process of developing a strategy which aims to increase tree canopy coverage across the LGA this will be tied with their future Green Grid strategy. LCC have promised to review and amend building codes in their LEP and DCP to incorporate controls to reduce the UHI effect and incorporate Water Sensitive Urban Design. LCC goes on to state these changes would also consider the need to preserve areas of high ecological value and reduce resource consumption including encouraging adaptive building designs. Furthermore, LCC will advocate for amendments to NSW State policies including BASIX and exempt and complying development.
	There is the need to improve community health in the Liverpool LSPS, however, their approach remains quite broad. LCC recognises the need to support health through urban design, increasing walking, promoting healthy lifestyles and through reducing the UHI effect. The actions associated with these health objectives remain quite scarce as compared to other Councils LSPS's.
	The Liverpool Collaboration Area Place Strategy, created in collaboration with the GSC was collectively designed to provide future directions for the Liverpool centre. Numerous short- and long-term priorities have been established which aim to increase connectivity, liveability, productivity, and sustainability. This Strategy prioritises the need to increase community preparedness regarding flooding, improve environmental amenity to enable further opportunities for walking and cycling and to encourage low-carbon initiatives in building design. The implementation of a green grid and reducing the impacts of the UHI effect are also significant actions in this Strategy. Health is primarily viewed though the enhancement of the health industry in relation to the economy and the Innovation precinct, which promotes health and education jobs and technologies.

Liverpool City Council	
Local Environmental Plan	 The Liverpool LEP (Liverpool City Council, 2008b) includes a few additional conditions and clauses to increase resilience and sustainability. This includes their aims which state: (b) to foster economic, environmental, and social well-being so that Liverpool continues to develop as a sustainable and prosperous place to live, work, study, and visit, (c) to provide community and recreation facilities, maintain suitable amenity and offer a variety of quality lifestyle opportunities to a diverse population (h) to protect, connect, maintain, and enhance the natural environment in Liverpool, and promote ecologically sustainable development, which considers the environmental constraints of the land (NSW Government, 2021). The Liverpool LEP has maps on flood planning, and environmentally significant land.
Development Control Plan	The Liverpool DCP (Liverpool City Council, 2008a) aims to develop new suburbs in sustainable manner which protects the natural environment through the promotion of a high standard of urban environmental design. A major consideration in this DCP is regarding the management of flood risks. The impacts of climate on health and wellbeing are not significantly mentioned in this plan.
Community Strategic Plan	 LCC has developed a comprehensive understanding in planning high quality sustainable developments for communities to live. These developments in turn will reflect the needs of the community. Some of the major outcomes of the CPS (Liverpool City Council, 2017b) include: fore fronting the needs the community, strengthening and protecting the environment, encouraging sustainability, energy, and renewable energy use, increasing community participation. Understanding the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing has not been fully explored in this CSP.

Liverpool City Council	
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/ Resilience)	 LCC has four major strategies and plans which address the environmental concerns and considerations. These include: Liverpool City Council Water Efficiency Plan (Liverpool City Council, 2012c) Liverpool City Council Energy Management Plan (Liverpool City Council, 2012a) Liverpool Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy (Liverpool City Council, 2005) Liverpool Biodiversity Management Plan 2012 (Liverpool City Council, 2012b) The LCC Water Efficiency Plan and Energy Management Plan provides a progressive rationale for improving Council operational efficiencies in water consumption and energy usage. The Council is committed to reducing the water and energy usage for its facilities and activities. This is idea of sustainability is then reinforced in their Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy. This strategy provides an understanding of the triple bottom line and the need for the recovery and appropriate disposals of wastes.
	The Liverpool Biodiversity Management Plan 2012 provides a detailed investigation of the vulnerable flora and fauna species in the Liverpool LGA. It then provides a sustainability-based action plan, which incorporates the need to preserve riparian and biodiversity corridors and development bushfire management actions. The Council's environmental plans aim to create a healthier environment recognising the contexts of addressing these issues whilst also leading sustainability by example. However, a detailed understanding of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing has not fully developed. This most likely due to the documents being endorsed in the 2000's and early 2010's.
Social Plans (Recreation/ Health)	Cultural Strategy 2017-2021 Creative, Innovative and Culturally Distinct Within LCC's Cultural Strategy (Liverpool City Council, 2017a), it brings to light the positive impact how participation in the arts and associated cultural activities can improve community health. They go on to state that 'research shows inequality exacerbates disadvantage, which impacts on people's mental health, physical health and wellbeing' (Liverpool City Council, 2017, p. 12). However, there is little connection to the need to increase community resilience or climate risks. Liverpool Bike Plan 2018-2023 The Liverpool Bike Plan (Liverpool City Council, 2018), along with many similar cycling plans, emphasises the positive health benefits that cycling can have on communities. These health benefits include a reduction in sedentary lifestyle diseases and a reduction in greenhouse gases by reducing car trips. Furthermore, there is also the recognition of the economic benefits which result from a decreasing cost to the health system.

Liverpool City Council	
Development Plans (Economic/ Centres)	 There are numerous development plans which are currently in force within LCC. These include: Liverpool Economic Development Strategy 2019-2029 (Liverpool City Council, 2019) Liverpool City Centre Public Domain Master Plan (Liverpool City Council, 2020c) Liverpool Rural Lands Study 2012 (Liverpool City Council, 2012d) Liverpool Local Housing Strategy—adopted but not in Force (Liverpool City Council, 2020d) Liverpool Centres and Corridors Strategy (Liverpool City Council, 2020a) Innovation Liverpool: An Innovation Strategy to support LCC's CSP to 2027 These plans and strategies prioritise economic growth and development in the Liverpool LGA. Health in this context primarily refers to the health industry and its contribution to the economy. There is minimal connection to the impact from climate risks or the need to improve community health and wellbeing. The Liverpool City Centre Public Domain Master Plan is the implementation of the GSC's Collaboration plan and the principles of the GSC which include heat mitigation and understanding the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing.
	The Liverpool Local Housing Strategy provides the most detail of the plans listed above in relation to climate risks and sustainability. LCC is expected to change significantly with this decade, with the development of the Western Sydney International (Nancy Bird Walton) Airport and associated Aerotropolis. Therefore, a strong focus of this strategy is in creating sustainable build environments that promote resilience in the community. This includes protecting areas of ecological significance, providing quality open space, reducing urban heat, and providing affordable housing. However, economic growth and development is still given considerable attention within this strategy. As a result, while more recent plans emphasise the need to consider climate risks and health, a significant portion of them still push for economic growth.

Penrith City Council	
Local Strategic Planning Statement	 The Penrith City Council (PCC) LSPS (Penrith City Council, 2020a) provides a comprehensive understanding on the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing within their LGA. They have developed seven Planning Priorities which address this pressing issue. These include: Planning Priority 5: Facilitate Sustainable Housing Planning Priority 16: Protect and Enhance our High Value Environment Lands Planning Priority 17: Define and Protect the Values and Opportunities within the Metropolitan Rural Area Planning Priority 18: Connect our Green and Blue Grid Planning Priority 19: Create an Energy, Water and Waste Efficient City Planning Priority 20: Manage Flood Risk Planning Priority 21: Cool our City Their LSPS highlights the need to manage and mitigate flood risks and the urban heat island (UHI) effect within their LGA. PCC are in the process of creating a 'Floodplain Risk Management Study' and have a regular 'Floodplain Risk Management Committees' to address flood risks (Penrith City Council, 2020a). Also, in improving community health, PCC has taken significant steps in address urban heat. This has been achieved through the Cooling the City Strategy. Further actions stated in the LSPS include 'Action 21.3: Introduce objectives, planning and development controls to deliver a cooler city' and 'Action 21.4: Develop canopy targets and identify suburbs (new, existing, and future) where there are opportunities for increasing canopy targets' (Penrith City Council, 2020, p. 107).
	Furthermore, Penrith's LSPS emphasises the need for the resilience and sustainability of their green and blue grid. Their reasoning behind this is multifaceted and shows a depth of understanding. They state that this will be able to protect and enhance the ecological communities of the area, reduce the severity of natural hazards, and improve the mental and physical health of residents.
	In addition, the GSC, working with PCC, have also developed a Greater Penrith Collaboration Area, which includes the GSC's principles of liveability and sustainability. This plan focuses its attention of the Penrith City Centres neighbouring centres such as Kingswood and the Penrith's Health and Education Precinct. This plan identifies the need to improve green grid connections and develop urban cooling strategies.

Penrith City Council	
Local Environmental Plan	 PCC includes additional conditions and clauses to their LEP to increase resilience and sustainability (Penrith City Council, 2010). For example, their LEP aims state: '(b) to promote development that is consistent with the Council's vision for Penrith, namely, one of a sustainable and prosperous region with harmony of urban and rural qualities and with a strong commitment to healthy and safe communities and environmental protection and enhancement '(g) to minimise the risk to the community in areas subject to environmental hazards, particularly flooding and bushfire, by managing development in sensitive areas '(h) to ensure that development incorporates the principles of sustainable development through the delivery of balanced social, economic and environmental outcomes, and that development is designed in a way that assists in reducing and adapting to the likely impacts of climate change (NSW Government, 2021). The Penrith LEP also has additional restrictions to where exempt and complying developments need to consider built form, energy efficiency, water conservation and a reduction of vehicle dependence. Lastly, the Penrith LEP also has additional maps for Natural Resources Sensitivity Land, land which has Scenic and Landscape Values and Flood Prone land. Therefore, as a result PCC have provided a significant amount of detail in this EPI to increase the sustainability and resilience of their LGA.
Development Control Plan	 The Penrith DCP (Penrith City Council, 2014) introduces several guiding principles, some of which included ideas which promote the health of the community, and which reduces the impacts from climate risks. These include: Principle 1: Provide a long-term vision for cities, based on sustainability; intergenerational, social, economic, and political equity; and their individuality. Principle 3: Recognise the intrinsic value of biodiversity and natural ecosystems and protect and restore them. Principle 4: Enable communities to minimise their ecological footprint. Principle 5: Build on the characteristics of ecosystems in the development and nurturing of healthy and sustainable cities. Principle 8: Expand and enable cooperative networks to work towards a common, sustainable future. Furthermore, Penrith City Council has an initiative called 'Lifting the Bar' in which a variation to a development control may be considered for a development application if the applicant shows additional commitment to these principles.
Community Strategic Plan	PCC's Community Strategic Plan (Penrith City Council, 2017a) has an in-depth understanding of the need to increase resilience, environmental sustainability, and community wellbeing. Resilience plays a major role in defining the Plan's goals and strategies. This includes 'Strategy 6.2: Help build resilient, inclusive communities' (Penrith City Council, 2017a). The Penrith CSP defines urban resilience as 'the capacity of individuals, communities, institutions, businesses and systems within a city to survive, adapt, and grow no matter what kinds of chronic stresses and acute shocks they experience.' (Penrith City Council, 2017, p. 9). However, the concept of health remains quite vague in this plan, having numerous understandings.

Environmental Plans (Sustainability/ Resilience)	 PCC has endorsed and drafted several policies and plans which address community health and wellbeing and climate risk and resilience strategies. These include: Sustainability Strategy 2015-21 (Penrith City Council, 2015b) Penrith Green Grid Strategy (draft) (Penrith City Council, 2021a) Cooling the City Strategy 2015 (Penrith City Council, 2015a) Resilient Penrith Action Plan (draft) (Penrith City Council, 2021b) Penrith Biodiversity Strategy (Penrith City Council, 2004) Penrith Waste and Resource Strategy 2017-2026 (Penrith City Council, 2017c) Energy Savings Action Plan (Penrith City Council, 2007)
	 Energy savings Action Plan (Permitri City Council, 2007) Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) Policy (Penrith City Council, 2018c) Street and Park Tree Management Plan (Penrith City Council, 2018b) The Cooling the City Strategy is an extensive document which uniquely identifies the issue of the UHI effect and its impact on community healt and wellbeing. Adopted in 2015, it was a distinctive and well-rounded strategy providing well thought out short- and long-term goals and objectives for the Council to implement. In addition, they give recognition to vulnerable communities who are most impacted by the UHI effect within their LGA. The vulnerable communities identified in their research included: individuals with compromised respiration, socially disadvantaged people, residents in social housing, people with spinal cord injuries, and people who are homeless. This document shows a significant turning point for the understanding of climate risks on communities in Penrith City.
	In addition, the draft Penrith Green Grid Strategy demonstrates a strong commitment to reducing the impacts from urban heat. This strategy shows an understanding of the future growth planned around the Western Sydney Airport and Aerotropolis which will likely contribute to this worsening issue. This strategy is heavily placed within the rhetoric of the State Government, and their tree canopy targets. There is the understanding of the environmental and ecological benefits that improving green connectivity will bring. The mapping of heat and green space data through Geographical Information Systems has been used in this precinct-based approach. Lastly the benefits that improve green grids this will bring to community health and wellbeing are also highlighted. This includes an understanding of improved active transport opportunities and increasing recreational spaces.
	Also, the draft Resilient Penrith Action Plan stresses the importance of creating 'A healthier and more liveable Penrith which recognises and proactively addresses the challenges of a changing climate through cooling the city, resource and energy efficiency and valuing our natural environment.' (Penrith City Council, 2021, p. 25). This strategy becomes a unifying strategy which considers climate risks and the need to improve community health and wellbeing.

Penrith City Council		
Social Plans (Recreation/ Health)	Penrith Sport and Recreation Strategy	
	The Penrith Sport and Recreation Strategy (Penrith City Council, 2020b) also provides insight into how local community health can be enhanced. A strong emphasis lies in supporting and increasing active and healthy lifestyles in the community. There is the recognition of the impacts which climate risks will have on public open spaces. This builds on the work undertaken by the Cooling the City Strategy. A unique set of actions are provided which aim to promote and support environmental sustainability, again under the scope of increasing resilience.	
	Disability Inclusion Action Plan	
	PCC have demonstrated a commitment to creating liveable communities and supporting access to meaningful employment with improved access to services through better systems and processes for individuals with disabilities (Penrith City Council, 2017b). This will be achieved through supporting various programs and initiatives. However, there was little to no attention brought to the impacts from climate risks, urban heat, or flood risks.	
	Penrith Health Action Plan	
	The Penrith Health Action Plan (Penrith City Council, 2018a) is a collaboration with PCC, Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District (NBML Nepean Blue Mountains Primary Health Network (NBMPHN) and Greater Western Aboriginal Health Service (GWAHS). This health document underpinned by collaboration with a commitment to knowledge sharing and openness. This plan provides priorities to support disadvantage communities and Aboriginal health in the Penrith LGA. This is achieved by supporting NAIDOC week, establishing subcommittees, and promoequity through access to education and services.	
	A healthy built environment is also supported in this plan. This includes the identification and policy implementation of urban heat mitigation strategies and forwarding significant developments to LHD and PHN. Furthermore, PCC is committed to creating a Healthy Eating and Active Living Strategy. As a result of this plan, PCC runs a Village Café almost weekly across three areas of the Penrith LGA. This initiative can be seen as an attempt to support community wellbeing and improving social connectivity of residents which can also improve mental health.	
	Lastly mental health is also given significant attention in this plan. PCC have supported the creation of a Joint Regional Mental Health and Suicide Prevention Plan whilst also promoting mental health awareness and Men's Sheds in their LGA. As a result, PCC has demonstrated a strong commitment to improving health and wellbeing of their community through supporting and establishing numerous initiatives and programs.	
Development Plans (Economic/ Centres)	There are numerous economic and strategic centres strategies that PCC have developed. Many of these focus their attention on promoting economic development in their LGA. This is usually achieved through working with private companies and developers. These plans often play a dominant role in the planning realm in local governments, but do not focus specifically on environmental and health outcomes.	

Wollondilly Shire Council		
Local Strategic Planning Statement	 Wollondilly Shire Council's (WSC) LSPS (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020d) provides a very health forward approach to strategic planning. WSC highlights how built environment determinants can affect health and wellbeing. These include a recognition of how access to health care, healthy food, education, employment, good housing, and open space can impact community and individual health. This is shown in their Planning Priority 6 which states, 'embedding health and wellbeing considerations into land use planning for healthy places' (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020). WSC provide a detailed and thoughtful approach to health planning. The Council will: 'Develop a policy and strategy framework that focuses health and wellbeing in planning (and) Use networks to champion healthy planning throughout Greater Sydney and NSW'. (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020, p. 41) WSC also highlights a series of actions which the Council will implement in response to improving health. For example, they will consider amendments to their LEP and DCP as well the development of a Heath/Social Impact Assessment Policy for development assessments. 	
	Furthermore, their Planning Priority 18 states, 'living with climate impacts and contributing to the broader resilience of Greater Sydney' (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020, p. 96). This highlights a strong commitment the Council has in understanding the need to manage climate risk and implement resilience strategies. They identify extreme weather events such as bushfire, floods, and urban heat as major stressors which the LGA must manage. Their primary action to combat these issues is to 'establish a framework to reduce emissions in Council operations, increase resilience and adapt to the impacts of climate in Wollondilly' (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020, p. 101). This with be achieved in combination with a recognition of the need to protect and enhance the natural environment and the creation of a strong urban tree canopy.	
	While the climate and health aspects to the LSPS remain largely separated, the in-depth approach to understanding of these issues provide insight into the changing approach to health occurring within WSC.	
Local Environmental Plan	The WSC LEP (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2011) provides additional environmental clauses and maps to promote ecological protection. This includes biodiversity and flood planning clauses, as well as a Natural Resources - Biodiversity Map and a Natural Resources – Water Map. In addition, they also provide an aim which address health and wellbeing which states, "(g) to provide for a built environment that contributes to the health and well-being of residents, workers and visitors" (NSW Government, 2021).	
Development Control Plan	The WSC DCP (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2016a) follows the path of other DCP's within the Western Parkland City. Importantly it states for the need for effective landscaping to reduce the UHI effect and for the need to promote healthier lifestyles through such provisions as private open space and solar access. As also demonstrated through other DCP's, the Wollondilly DCP does not significantly address the impacts of climate risks on health and wellbeing.	

Wollondilly Shire Council		
Community Strategic Plan	Within the WSC CSP (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2017) they provide a unique understanding to health and wellbeing. They state, 'health and wellbeing and not solely related to clinical health service delivery' but are also impacted by the Social Determinants of Health (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2017, p. 22). While there is little attention given to climate risks with this document it is important to recognise that health's increasing role in WSC strategic policies.	
	In addition, Wollondilly's CSP mentions the current health risks that the LGA faces. They state that their LGA suffers from higher rates of 'high body mass index, coronary heart disease and respiratory diseases' than compared to the rest of NSW (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2017, p. 57). They also repeatedly mention the Wollondilly Health Alliance which provides advice for the provision of additional health services. Furthermore, Wilton was viewed as a potential site for additional health care services with its planned future development.	
Environmental Plans (Sustainability/ Resilience)	The draft Wollondilly Urban Tree Canopy Plan (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020e) and Landscape Strategy provides the most detail regarding how Council addresses climate risks. WSC states that,	
	for the first time in NSW planning history, the State Government is calling on metropolitan councils to respond to the need to protect and enhance urban canopy to protect and improve biodiversity, water quality and liveability as well as improve resilience to climate change and urban heat (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020, p. 4).	
	This Strategy demonstrates a strong link between understanding the role that tree canopies can have in combating climate risks.	
	The UHI effect is also front and centre within this strategy. There is an understanding of the vulnerable populations who are most at risk from this issue. This includes people with higher levels of obesity, diabetes, asthma, and lung cancer. The Council also recognises that with the increasing urban development, the issue of urban heat will continue to worsen and affect the LGA. In addition, WSC provides urban heat vulnerability maps which 'indicate which existing towns or villages are more vulnerable to urban heat due to illness, age, or socio-economic and environmental factors' (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020, p. 11). WSC places a strong emphasis on providing an effective tree canopy coverage along cycleways and pathways to reduce urban heat and skin damage from the sun.	
	An understanding of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing is also raised within this strategy. WSC identify several trends which will impact their community. These include increasing hot days, extreme weather events and changing habitat patterns for pathogens and pests. As a result, with data and climate risk research, WSC is set provide an effective response to tree canopy coverage.	

Wollondilly Shire Council		
Social Plans (Recreation/ Health)	Wollondilly Social Planning Strategy Volume 1 Implementation Plan	
	WSC's Social Planning Strategy (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2016b) provides a well-developed rationale for addressing and improving community health. This is primarily understood through an increasing provision of neighbourhood and recreational facilities, as well as access to healthy food. WSC also understands that health and lifestyle diseases can be impacted by the built environment and poor urban design. A key action identified was to include health considerations in Council planning.	
	Wollondilly 2011 Bike Plan and Open Space, Recreation and Community Facilities Strategy	
	The points raised in the Social Planning Strategy were also echoed in the Wollondilly Bike Plan and the Open Space, Recreation and Community Facilities Strategy (Wollondilly City Council, 2011). Council acknowledges that the provision of services and programs that support recreation and supports the use of open space can create social interaction within the community.	
	Wilton Health and Wellbeing Strategy	
	The Wilton Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020f) is a localised strategy which prioritises health of the community of Wilton. Wilton has been identified as a future urban growth area by the NSW Government. Like BMCC they adopt a planetary health approach to this future development. They provide an understanding of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing. The climate risks include increasing environmental stressors such as flooding, fires, and droughts and the worsening of the UHI effect.	
	A strong emphasis is placed on providing social infrastructure, which can be seen a way to reduce social isolation and improve mental health of the community. This social infrastructure includes community centres, health facilities, active transport routes and open spaces. Furthermore, there is the understanding of the role that transport can have in improving health. WSC states that an increase in walking can result in a reduction of reduced mortality and increased mental health outcomes.	
	Green infrastructure is also identified as a significant component in creating a healthy community. WSC states that green infrastructure can reduce heat related morbidity especially in vulnerable populations. A lack of green infrastructure is attributed to a reduction in incidental interactions which can lead to increasing social isolation. Green infrastructure can also be used to reduce the UHI effect, encourage active transport and improve air quality, which results in multiple health benefits.	
	Lastly it was identified that the development of 'healthy housing' is also important when creating a healthy community. A high density of housing can create more walkable communities. This increase in walking can then in turn provide numerous health benefits. These include a lower rate of obesity and cardiovascular diseases.	

Wollondilly Shire Council		
Development Plans (Economic/ Centres)	 Currently Wollondilly has numerous development plans that are currently stated as draft. These include: Wollondilly Rural Lands Strategy (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020c) Wollondilly Local Housing Strategy (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020b) Wollondilly Centres Strategy (Wollondilly Shire Council, 2020a) Overall, there is the broad understanding of the need to create resilient and healthy communities. This is primarily through increasing walkability and connections to open spaces. However, the economy is front and centre in these plans. 	

Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District

The Sustainability Plan The Sustainability Plan 2019-2023 for the Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District (NBMLHD) provides a detailed approach to managing the sustainability for the operations of the LHD. This strategy can inform and educate staff of their responsibilities regarding sustainable practices. In addition, this plan supports the effective use of available resources to enable the best outcomes for sustainability. This plan also establishes four working groups which are involved in implementation of this plan. This includes the Climate Resilient Healthcare, Buildings Energy and Water, Waste Management and Recycling and the Transport Working Groups. The Plan identifies 10 Focal Points which are used to guide the actions and Working Groups. These include, climate resilient healthcare, energy reduction projects, indoor air quality and waste management and recycling programs.

This Sustainability Plan addresses the lack of district wide policies that addresses sustainability. This will provide guidance and strategies used to inform the construction of new buildings and the upgrading of equipment and infrastructure. Furthermore, this plan also considers the triple bottom line, in relation to social, environmental, and financial benefits of sustainability.

The Plan and associated Focal Points will attempt to meet the mandatory sustainability targets and requirements set by the NSW Government Resource Efficiency Policy and the National Building Code. This Plan is an aspirational and highly beneficial initiative which is used to explore and evaluate sustainability initiatives in the NBMLHD. Below is a guideline of the targets and objectives set by the NBMLHD (Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District, 2020).

The NBMLHD has developed a sustainability assessment tool which encourages staff to consider a range of issues when designing and implementing projects as well as a prioritisation matrix tool for resilience projects.

The barriers and challenges identified in the stakeholder mapping included:

- A lack of time and resources combined with the issue of a lack of dedicated paid staff to complete work.
- COVID-19 which has delayed implementation of the plan.

As a result, the NBMLHD provides detailed understanding of the need to improve the sustainability of operations and its role in improving community health whilst also recognising climate risks.

	People			
Sustainability Plan 2019-2023 Approved	Sustainability Committee	Portal		
Develop Focal Point Documents hrough Working Groups	Established Focal Point	Set up Intranet page content Develop Sustainability Advocacy Program Develop Dashboard	Policy Requireme Submit GREP E1 Energy Reduction Plan by Nov 2019 Submit GREP E5 Solar Target Plan by Nov 2019 Implement Projects by 2023-24	Adjust Strategic Plan Update 2023 Adjust Sustainability Plan to suit next Strategic Plan Revise and Develop next Current Focal Points

South Western Sydney Local Health District

SWSLHD Climate Change Risk Discussion Paper	The South Western Sydney Local Health District (SWSLHD) announced that "climate change" is increasing a health emergency, and has provided with clear evidence the severe impacts on the community. They have stated that current building codes are not always up to date with climate issues. They provide recommendations of how changes to legislation should occur to enable climate resilience in the built environment, especially regarding urban heat. The SWSLHD also involves their staff to increase awareness around sustainability and the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing. Numerous collaborators are also involved in these processes, including the Climate and Health Alliance, NSW Government and NSW Health Sustainability Network.
	They have recommended implementing several actions, which include policy changes to increase sustainable built practices and providing education around the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing. This is also tied in with reducing operational costs for the LHD whilst also focusing on creating healthier communities. This includes an understanding of how reducing climate risks can provide health benefits for the community. Furthermore, they also have developed a carbon emissions roadmap to reduce carbon emissions within the organisation, especially regarding electrical use. As a result, this Discussion Paper not only provides an understanding of the need to increase the sustainability of operations and resource consumption, but also an understanding of broader climate risks and ways to manage them.
Sustainability Action Plan 2018-2019	The Sustainability Action Plan provides a strong understanding of the need to increase sustainability in response to climate impacts. This is framed within a broader legislative context. The SWSLHD aim is to create sustainable communities within a healthier environment by considering the need to reduce air pollution and heat stressors.
	A strong focus of this plan is on reducing waste and water and energy consumption, whilst also educating staff. These ideas and priorities are then formulated into the action plan section of the report. This provides detailed actions and objectives for the SWSLHD to meet.
SWSLHD Sustainability Report 2019/20	This report is like the Action Plan, as it provides an update of how the SWSLHD is progressing regarding the reduction of water and energy consumption as well as waste reduction. They also state how major projects and redevelopments have considered and implemented sustainability strategies into their design.

Interviews: preliminary findings

The preliminary interview data are presented as summaries of themes identified a-prior and as part of the iterative process of analysis. These themes align with the policy action areas identified in the Framework for a National Strategy on Climate, Health and Wellbeing (Climate and Health Alliance, 2017) as shown in Appendix 1. Each of these themes are organised with sub-themes that are described in detail.

The Framework Policy Action Areas

Policies

Each council varied in how it integrated environmental and human health and wellbeing threats and impacts and sustainability and resilience into their policies and strategic planning documents. Most participants indicated that they did consider the link between environmental and human health when developing and implementing specific strategies; however, concerns were raised across all councils that this link was not explicitly made in strategic planning documents.

Emergency and disaster-preparedness

All councils had been significantly impacted by natural disaster from bush fires or floods recently and have a strong focus on emergency and disaster-preparedness, including capacity building. All councils rely heavily on NSW Government funding to effectively implement emergency and disaster-preparedness strategies. Most participants described "climate change" as being an important risk for natural disaster; however, this did not always align with how the organisation discussed climate risks in their planning documents or within the organisation more broadly.

Supporting healthy and resilient communities

All councils were undertaking various initiatives to support the health and wellbeing of their communities and community and individual resilience. While there were some similarities between council initiatives, each council used different approaches to providing this support. Support can be divided into two categories: support during and after disaster, and general (day-to-day) community support. Support during and after disaster relies heavily on NSW Government funding, services, expertise, and other support from agencies like Resilience NSW (previously OEM). Despite the support provided by NSW Government, disaster support provided by councils diverts resources (staff and funding) that could be used for other general community support strategies related to sustainably and health and wellbeing.

Participants described wanting to deliver longer-term health and wellbeing strategies that address the social and environmental determinants of health; however, this was difficult as the support work of councils is usually limited to supporting their core business (i.e., delivery of services) and disaster support. Despite these challenges all councils were implementing a variety of strategies to support vulnerable populations, enhance liveability, and build capacity and resilience in their communities.

Education and capacity building

All participants described education and capacity building initiatives for either climate risk and resilience, sustainability or health and wellbeing strategies that are delivered by council for the community or within council to staff. Education and capacity building initiatives are led by each individual area within councils depending on community need.

Education and capacity building initiatives for the community are delivered in a variety of ways, including via social media, information sheets or pamphlets in council run facilities or small group programs. Topics covered range from bush walks to educate the community about the value of local ecosystems to how to bushfire preparedness.

Leadership and governance

Individuals within councils describe driving climate risk and sustainability related initiatives that are informed by each council's planning policies and strategies. Each council's planning policies and strategies are informed primarily by NSW Government policies, strategies, and guidance in addition to broad consultation with key non-Government stakeholders and community. Individual Counsellors who represent their communities have a strong influence on how climate and sustainability is considered within each organisation. The Executive staff of councils (e.g., CEO, Strategic Planning Managers) also have an important influence on how each organisation considers and prioritises climate risk and sustainability strategies. All Executive staff interviewed understood the importance of addressing climate risk and sustainability within planning policies and strategies; however, all described several constraints to achieving their strategic goals. These are described below in relation to barriers.

A sustainable and climate-resilient health care sector

The health care sector was considered to operate separate to council. Across councils it was described that health and wellbeing was not considered core business, although councils were collaborating with local health districts and other health related organisations to support their communities. Participants generally expressed a desire for more collaboration with health-related organisations.

Research and data

Councils use various data sources to inform the development of plans, policies, strategies, and initiatives; however, they are limited. Across the councils there was a heavy reliance on NSW Government resources and information sourced by individuals with specific expertise within councils. In many cases it was described that the silos created within councils meant that individuals did not have awareness of data or information available that might enable them to integrate either sustainability, climate risk, resilience or health and wellbeing into their strategies and programs.

Councils were rarely described as being able to collect their own data beyond their regular community surveys, despite a desire to do so. Lack of resourcing was described as the primary reason for being unable to evaluate the impact of planning policies and climate risk, sustainability, resilience or health and wellbeing initiatives. Another key barrier to collecting data on these initiatives relates to the intangible nature of the long-term benefits associated with sustainability, climate, resilience and health and wellbeing impacts.

Thriving ecosystems

All councils included numerous policies and strategies to support ecosystems within their LGAs; however, the way this was approached varied across councils. The competing priorities of councils were described as a challenge for implementing strategies to support ecosystem health. For example, the pressure from the NSW Government to develop urban areas—for growth councils in particular—creates significant challenges for implementing biodiversity and sustainability strategies that aim to retain green space and existing ecosystems and rejuvenate urban areas. Despite these pressures there were many examples across all councils of successful initiatives to increase or maintain biodiversity, increase tree canopy, and improve water quality and sustainability.

Barriers, enablers, and solutions

The participants described several barriers, enablers, and solutions for planning, implementing, and evaluating strategies relating to the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing that were experienced across all councils. Two key barriers described by participants were having shared knowledge and understanding of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing, and a lack of resources available to implement and evaluate related strategies. When adequate resources were

available—such as funding, additional staff, or experts—resources were described as enablers. Participants identified several solutions to the barriers described that some organisations were already implementing. Other barriers described included working in silos and tensions both within councils and between organisations.

Shared knowledge and understanding

There was general acceptance of the problems related to "climate change" but concerns over organisational and institutional barriers to action. All participants interviewed understood the importance of addressing climate risk and resilience and were actively involved in addressing "climate change" related issues within their professional roles. It was consistently mentioned that a lack of shared understanding and knowledge of the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing within councils was a barrier to progressing climate related strategies. It was described by all participants that the link between climate risk and human health and wellbeing was generally not well understood by staff within councils, including elected Counsellors. Some participants expressed frustration with not being able to implement strategies related to health and wellbeing because the link with environmental health was generally not well understood within the organisations. In addition, addressing health and wellbeing was not necessarily considered to be core business for councils to directly address community health and wellbeing.

The wider community also matters, according to informants. It was also described that the communities represented by councils do not necessarily have the same knowledge or understanding of the impacts of climate on human and environmental health. There were differences between councils in how their communities were perceived to value strategies related to reducing climate related impacts. Councils that had experienced more natural disaster were described as having communities that were concerned about the impacts of the climate due to these direct impacts. In contrast, some councils experiencing more acute heat island effects described their communities as not understanding the importance of green space, specifically trees, in reducing heat island effects.

Resources (funding, capacity)

Lack of resources was consistently described as a significant barrier for councils to implement and evaluate climate risk and resilience related strategies. Smaller councils found this particularly challenging describing less staff and financial resources to do their work in this area.

Managing core services provided to residents are the priority for councils and require significant financial and staffing resources. Their role in service provision is amplified following a natural disaster, which requires an immediate response. The resources required to respond to natural disaster are prioritised, reducing the ability of councils to implement longer term strategies focused on human and environmental health and sustainability. This is particularly challenging for smaller councils that already have limited resources. Recent natural disasters combined with the COVID-19 pandemic response meant implementing climate risk and sustainability related initiatives or updating non-essential strategies and planning guidance is delayed.

Working in silos

Working in silos both within and externally to organisations was considered a barrier to planning, implementing, and evaluating climate risk related strategies. This was mentioned by most participants across participating councils. Some participants expressed a level of frustration with the duplication of work both within councils and across councils and in one case other organisations such as LHDs. There were several examples provided by participants illustrating how collaborating with other areas within council, or with other councils with similar needs, have led to successful strategies to address resilience to climate impacts.

Within councils, silos were described as a lack of understanding of how climate impacts may relate to different management areas within a council, or of the expertise that other management areas could provide to enhance the benefits of a particular initiative. In general, it was reported that councils were consulting broadly both within their organisations and externally with key stakeholders (e.g., NSW Government) when developing key strategic planning documents, but this occurred to a lesser extent with the implementation of different initiatives that are informed by these documents. Once the strategic planning documents were developed, they were used by different management areas within a council to develop and implement initiatives, with varying amounts of collaboration and consultation.

All councils described delivering various strategies related to supporting community health and wellbeing and resilience. Councils were often delivering their own unique programs and initiatives in their communities. Many of the programs described could benefit other councils and their communities; however, in most cases they were not shared between councils. The influence of elected councillors was also described as preventing collaboration across councils due to political agendas, such as wanting to be seen to have implemented a particular initiative.

In terms of external collaboration, it was perceived that the various NSW Government organisations were working in silos as there are inconsistencies between the different Government organisation's strategies. These inconsistencies make it difficult for councils to implement their planning strategies when there is misalignment between each NSW Government organisation's strategies. It was mentioned that in some areas this was misalignment was improving.

Tensions

Tensions were described both within councils and between organisations. Tensions could relate to differing political agendas both internally within councils and externally between the different levels of government (local, state, and federal) and other stakeholders such as developers. Some of these tensions can relate to different understandings of climate risk and the impact of climate on human and environmental health and wellbeing. Differences between the priorities of councils and their communities and other NSW Government organisations (including NSW Government policies) also create tension. Councils can find it difficult to implement state planning policies and ensure they achieve their own sustainability or climate risk and resilience related strategic goals. For example, in 2009 the NSW Government implemented the Affordable Housing State Environment Planning Policy (SEPP) to address housing shortage across NSW. This SEPP allowed the construction of a granny flat dwelling without council approval. This strategy had significant environmental consequences for some LGAs that had a greater need for affordable housing and income, reducing the amount of green space and tree canopy in areas already impacted by heat island effects.

The timing of the delivery of new NSW Government strategies and associated deadlines was also described as an important barrier for councils. There is a disconnect between NSW Government priorities and the budget and election cycles of councils that pull resources away from their core business and prevent them from implementing their own strategies. For example, the need to respond to NSW Government priorities has led to delays in updating outdated DCPs.

There are also tensions between a community's values and priorities and the ability to implement climate risk, resilience and sustainability strategies. The communities within the Western Parkland area are very diverse. This diversity is seen both between LGAs and within each LGA to varying degrees. Some participants were confident that most of their community understood and valued action on climate risk and sustainability, while others perceived their community to have other more immediate priorities due to their socioeconomic circumstances or lacked understanding of the importance of sustainability strategies for their own health and wellbeing.

Solutions

Collaboration was described by most participants as a solution to the identified barriers, such as lack of resources and working in silos. Early collaboration with NSW Government and other stakeholders for infrastructure and development planning was considered an important solution to being able to take a more holistic approach to implementing initiatives with consideration of environmental and economic outcomes.

Collaboration between councils and other organisations was particularly important for smaller councils. Several examples were provided of successful collaborations between councils with similar needs, NSW Government organisations (including LHDs), and community groups.

More consistent guidance from NSW Government organisations was a suggested solution across councils. It was suggested that better collaboration between NSW Government organisations when developing planning strategies and guidance is needed to prevent misalignment of strategies that make it difficult for councils to adhere to each strategy.

Alignment of NSW Government deadlines for responding to new strategies and policy developments with Council election cycles and budgeting was another suggested solution that would help councils to implement climate risk and resilience related strategies. Taking a long-term less reactive approach to addressing climate impacts on environmental and human health was described as a potential solution. This solution is dependent on addressing the barriers described. In particular, there is a need for alignment in priorities across all levels of Government.

Provision of more shared centralised evidence-informed resources by the NSW Government or other organisations to support the work of councils in addressing climate related impacts and sustainability initiatives was considered a solution to implementing sustainability and climate risk and resilience strategies. Resilience NSW was described as an important organisation providing resources to assist councils to implement resilience strategies in relation to disaster preparedness and recovery. For those councils participating in Resilient Sydney, this organisation was described as an important network providing resources that enabled councils to develop and implement more holistic resilience strategies. The Western Sydney Health Alliance was also described as a solution for assisting councils to implement health and wellbeing strategies into urban design and planning strategies using resources and expertise, they would otherwise not have access to.

Preliminary conclusions and recommendations

Key findings

- Within councils there is the desire to do more to address climate impacts
- Limited resources prevent councils from implementing sustainability, climate risk, resilience and community health and wellbeing strategies
- Successful collaboration is occurring within councils, between councils, and with other stakeholders to address climate change related impacts
- More collaboration both between and within councils to develop and implement climate risk, resilience, sustainability and community health and wellbeing strategies would reduce the burden on individual councils and duplication
- More collaboration between NSW Government organisations would improve the consistency of strategies and regulations assisting councils to effectively plan and implement sustainability, climate risk, resilience, and health related initiatives.

- Links between climate and health are often recognised and understood but not explicit in councils' strategic planning documents or risk planning
- Longer term vision and commitment is required beyond immediate core service delivery and disaster support
- Education and capacity building for climate and heath is happening and can be further developed
- Barriers to be overcome include adequate resourcing and siloes within councils and across agencies. Resourcing is particularly acute in smaller councils.
- Building wider community support is crucial to progress action
- Councils need support to balance implementing state planning policies while ensuring they achieve their own sustainability, climate risk, resilience or health and wellbeing related strategic goals

This research has shown that action on climate resilience and health is happening across the eight Western Sydney Councils, which aligns with the aim of the Western City Deal to "deliver transformative change to shape the region to become an epicentre for liveability in Sydney" (The Department of Infrastructure, 2020). However, there is a desire across councils and other agencies to do more and to shift some of the institutional barriers that are hampering long term coordinated strategic development that is necessary to address the impacts of climate on health and wellbeing.

The implementation of NSW planning policies and strategies, such as the *Greener Places: An urban green infrastructure design framework for NSW* (Government Architect NSW, 2020) and the draft *Design and Place SEPP* (NSW Department of Planning Industry and Environment, 2021) aim to address climate risk and create healthy liveable cities. However, clearer coordination and leadership is needed, particularly from State Government whose growth priorities, for instance for more housing, can undermine the actions of local council's focussed on climate and health and their own climate risk policies, such as increasing green space.

Western Sydney councils, like other councils across the state, need direction and support for strategic forward planning, rather than reliance on reactive service provision or emergency disaster management. That support will require a shift away from siloed operations within councils to meet the multi-pronged demands that climate mitigation and adaptation for health requires. Moreover, further resources are required to build capacity, long term cross-council planning, and collaboration with health sectors and other agencies.

Western Sydney region is at a pivotal moment, experiencing unprecedented investment through the development of the international airport and accompanying infrastructure. It is at the heart of one of Australia's most significant urban economies (Morrison & Van Den Nouwelant 2020). Yet the global pandemic has laid bare the fundamental challenge of socio-economic disparities and health inequalities across the region. Fostering resilient communities is a major challenge faced by many cities and regions across Australia and internationally. This challenge is made more urgent by the rapid succession of shocks and stresses, drought, bushfires, storms, and floods and now the global pandemic. On-going research is vital to inform and support councils' strategic thinking and facilitate knowledge exchange. Planning decisions to mitigate climate risk made today will impact on the health of and wellbeing populations for generations to come.

IRCC Project: Review of Local Council Strategies for Climate, Health and Wellbeing in the Western Parkland City

References

- Blue Mountains City Council. (2015a). Blue Mountains Development Control Plan 2015. <u>https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/development/planning-rules/development-controls-for-land-zoned-under-LEP-2015/DCP-2015</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2015b). *Blue Mountains Local Environmental Plan 2015*. <u>https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2015-0829</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2016). *Blue Mountains Pedestrian Access & Mobility Plan 2025*. <u>https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/documents/pedestrian-access-mobility-plan-pamp</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2017a). *Community Strategic Plan*. https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/documents/community-strategic-plan-2035
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2017b). *Disability Inclusion Action Plan*. https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/disability-inclusion-action-plan
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2017c). *Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategic Plan 2017-2021*. <u>https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/documents/waste-avoidance-and-resource-recovery-strategic-plan-2017-2021</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2018). *Open Space and Recreation Strategic Plan 2018-2028*. <u>https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/documents/open-space-and-recreation-strategic-plan-2018-2028</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2019). *Water Sensitive Blue Mountains Strategic Plan*. <u>https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/waterways/water-sensitive-blue-mountains-strategic-plan</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2020a). Blue Mountains 2040: Living Sustainably, Local Strategic Planning Statement. <u>https://shared-drupal-s3fs.s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/master-</u> <u>test/fapub_pdf/Local+Strategic+Planning+Statements/LSPS+2020/Blue+Mountains+Local+Pl</u> <u>anning+Statement_Final+for+web_31+March+2020_S-1061.pdf</u>
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2020b). *Creative Strategy 2020-2027*. https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/documents/creative-strategy-2020-2027
- Blue Mountains City Council. (2021). Blue Mountains City Council Statement of Recognition and Commitment. <u>https://www.bmcc.nsw.gov.au/documents/statement-of-recognition-and-commitment</u>
- Camden Council. (2010). *Camden Local Environmental Plan 2010*. https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/whole/html/inforce/2012-04-05/epi-2010-0514
- Camden Council. (2013). Local Biodiversity Strategy Camden Local Government Area. <u>https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/pdfs/Council/Plans-and-Strategies/Camden-Council-Local-Biodiversity-Strategy.pdf</u>
- Camden Council. (2017). Camden Council Community Strategic Plan. <u>https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/pdfs/Council/Integrated-Planning/Community-Strategic-Plan/13999-Camden-Council-CSP-v12FA-Download.pdf</u>
- Camden Council. (2019a). *Camden Development Control Plan 2019*. <u>https://dcp.camden.nsw.gov.au</u> Camden Council. (2019b). *Waste Management Guideline*.
 - https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/pdfs/Development/Preparing-a-DA/guide-topreparing-a-DA/Waste-Management-Guideline.pdf
- Camden Council. (2020a). Camden Local Strategic Planning Statement. <u>https://shared-drupal-s3fs.s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/master-test/fapub_pdf/Local+Strategic+Planning+Statements/LSPS+2020/15278+Camden+Council+LSPS+Update+v05FA+\$28MedRes\$29_S-1161.pdf</u>

Camden Council. (2020b). Draft Local Housing Strategy. <u>https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/pdfs/Council/Matters-on-Exhibition/Camden-Draft-Local-Housing-Strategy/Final-Draft-Housing-Strategy-exhib-October-2020.pdf</u> Camden Council. (2020c). Spaces and Places Strategy

https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/pdfs/Council/Plans-and-Strategies/66467-Camden-Council-Spaces-and-Places-Strategy-2020-21-12-20-Web.pdf

- Camden Council. (2020d). Sustainability Strategy 2020-24. <u>https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/pdfs/Council/Plans-and-Strategies/15397-Camden-</u> <u>Council-Sustainability-Strategy-v07FA-Web-Compressed.pdf</u>
- Camden Council. (n.d.). Built for Comfort Design Guides. https://www.camden.nsw.gov.au/assets/Uploads/Built-for-Comfort-Brochure.pdf

Campbelltown City Council. (2010). Campbelltown Bicycle Plan. <u>https://www.campbelltown.nsw.gov.au/ParksSportandRecreation/ParksSportRecreationPoli</u> <u>ciesStrategies/CampbelltownBicyclePlan</u>

Campbelltown City Council. (2015a). Campbelltown (Sustainable City) Development Control Plan 2015.

https://www.campbelltown.nsw.gov.au/BuildAndDevelop/PlanningPoliciesandControls/DevelopmentControlPlans/CampbelltownSustainableCityDevelopmentControlPlan2015

Campbelltown City Council. (2015b). *Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015*. <u>https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2015-0754</u>

Campbelltown City Council. (2015c). *Sustainability Strategy*. <u>https://www.campbelltown.nsw.gov.au/LocalEnvironment/SustainabilityAndResilience/Clea</u> <u>nerStrongerResilient</u>

Campbelltown City Council. (2017a). Campbelltown 2027 Community Strategic Plan <u>https://www.campbelltown.nsw.gov.au/CouncilandCouncillors/CorporatePlanningandStrategy/OurPlans#CommunityStrategicPlan</u>

- Campbelltown City Council. (2017b). Sport and Recreation Strategy. <u>https://www.campbelltown.nsw.gov.au/ParksSportandRecreation/ParksSportRecreationPoli</u> ciesStrategies/SportandRecreationStrategy
- Campbelltown City Council. (2020). *Local Strategic Planning Statement* <u>https://shared-drupal-s3fs.s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/master-</u>

test/fapub_pdf/000/Campbelltown+Local+Strategic+Planning+Statement_S-1141.pdf

- Climate and Health Alliance. (2017). Framework for a National Strategy on Climate, Health and Wellbeing for Australia.
- Fairfield City Council. (2007). Fairfield Section 94 Review Open Space Strategy 2007. <u>https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/files/assets/public/documents/plan_build/openspace_strategy_report.pdf</u>

Fairfield City Council. (2012). Community Strategic Plan. <u>https://www.ipart.nsw.gov.au/files/202bd258-f005-4a50-8a45-</u> <u>a2e0011b0280/Attachment T - 2012-2022 City Plan - January 2013.pdf</u>

- Fairfield City Council. (2013a). Fairfield City Wide Development Control Plan 2013. <u>https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/Planning-and-Building/Developments-and-Buildings/Development-Control-and-Structure-Plans</u>
- Fairfield City Council. (2013b). *Fairfield Local Environmental Plan 2013*. https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2013-0213

Fairfield City Council. (2015). Fairfield City Centres Policy 2015. <u>https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/files/assets/public/documents/plan_build/final-fairfield-city-centres-policy-20152.pdf</u>

- Fairfield City Council. (2017). Stormwater Management Policy. <u>https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/Planning-and-Building/Planning-and-Policies/Local-Policies</u>
- Fairfield City Council. (2018). Rural Land Study. <u>https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/Planning-and-Building/Strategies-and-Studies/Fairfield-Rural-Lands-Urban-Investigation-Area</u>

- Fairfield City Council. (2019). *Economic Development Strategy 2019 Update*. <u>https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/Business/Our-City-Profile</u>
- Fairfield City Council. (2020). Fairfield City 2040: A Land Use Vision: Shaping a Diverse City: Local Strategic Planning Statement

https://www.fairfieldcity.nsw.gov.au/files/assets/public/documents/business/adopted-fairfield-city-local-strategic-planning-statment-2040-30.03.20.pdf

- Freestone, R., & Wheeler, A. (2015). Integrating Health into Town Planning. In H. Barton , S. Thompson, S. Burgess, & M. Grant (Eds.), *The Routledge Handbook Of Planning For Health And Well-being. Shaping a sustainable and healthy future.* Routledge.
- Government Architect NSW. (2020). *Greener Places: An urban green infrastructure design framework for New South Wales*.
- Greater Sydney Commission. (2018). Greater Sydney Region Plan: A Metropolis of Three Cities connecting people.
- Hawkesbury City Council. (2002). *Hawkesbury Development Control Plan 2002*. <u>https://www.hawkesbury.nsw.gov.au/plan-and-build/planning-policies/development-control-plan</u>
- Hawkesbury City Council. (2010). *Hawkesbury Mobility Plan 2010 Bike Plan and Pedestrian Access* and Mobility Plan (P.A.M.P.).

https://www.hawkesbury.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/23283/HawkesburyMob ilityPlan2010_FinalAdoptedVersion.pdf

- Hawkesbury City Council. (2012). *Hawkesbury Local Environmental Plan 2012*. <u>https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2012-0470</u>
- Hawkesbury City Council. (2017a). Community Strategic Plan <u>https://www.hawkesbury.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0020/57521/HCC-Comm-</u> <u>strategic-plan-2017-8may-print.pdf</u>
- Hawkesbury City Council. (2017b). *Disability Inclusion Action Plan*. <u>https://www.hawkesbury.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/96063/Disablility-</u> <u>Inclusion-Action-Plan-2017-2021-2017-May.pdf</u>
- Hawkesbury City Council. (2021a). *Hawkesbury Local Strategic Planning Statement* <u>https://www.hawkesbury.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/178349/LSPS-February-2021.pdf</u>
- Hirono, K., Haigh, F., Jaques, K., & Crimeen, A. (2017). *Integrating Health Considerations into Wollondilly Shire Council Planning Processes*.
- Liverpool City Council. (2005). Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy. <u>http://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0004/113647/Liverpool-City-</u> <u>Council-Waste-Avoidance-and-_-Recovery-Strategy-November-2005-background-</u> <u>information-ST1221.pdf</u>
- Liverpool City Council. (2008a). *Liverpool Development Control Plan 2008*. <u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/development/liverpools-planning-controls/liverpool-development-control-plan</u>
- Liverpool City Council. (2008b). *Liverpool Local Environmental Plan 2008*. https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2008-0403
- Liverpool City Council. (2012a). Energy Management Plan. <u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/111595/2012-Liverpool-</u> <u>City-Council-Energy-Management-Plan.pdf</u>
- Liverpool City Council. (2012b). *Liverpool Biodiversity Management Plan 2012* <u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/112437/Liverpool-City-Council-Biodiversity-Management-Plan-June-2012.pdf</u>

- Liverpool City Council. (2012c). Liverpool City Council Water Efficiency Plan. <u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/___data/assets/pdf_file/0007/111895/Liverpool-City-</u> <u>Council-Water-Efficiency-Plan-2012.pdf</u>
- Liverpool City Council. (2012d). *Liverpool Rural Land Study 2012*. <u>http://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/8824/Draft-Rural-Lands-</u> <u>Study-2012-Exhibition-version-February-2013.pdf</u>
- Liverpool City Council. (2017a). Cultural Strategy 2017-2021 Creative, Innovative and Culturally Distinct

https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&v ed=2ahUKEwiSnYvl86zwAhXezzgGHT1QCxsQFjABegQlBhAD&url=https://www.liverpool.nsw .gov.au/trim/documents?RecordNumber=357859.2017&usg=AOvVaw1taANtVITbhR1LOMIT x9Y6

- Liverpool City Council. (2017b). *Our Home, Liverpool 2027, Community Strategic Plan* <u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0014/120380/Our-Home-</u> <u>Liverpool-2027-approved-by-Council-26-April-2017.pdf</u>
- Liverpool City Council. (2018). *Liverpool Bike Plan 2018-2023*.
- <u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/venues/parks-and-playgrounds/cycleways-and-walkways</u> Liverpool City Council. (2019). *Liverpool Economic Development Strategy 2019-2029*.

<u>https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/business/Why-Liverpool/strategy-and-resources</u> Liverpool City Council. (2020a). *Centres and Corridors Strategy*

- https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/development/planning-the-future
- Liverpool City Council. (2020b). Connected Liverpool 2040: Liverpool's Local Strategic Planning Statement - A Land Use Vision to 2040. <u>https://shared-drupal-s3fs.s3-ap-southeast-</u> 2.amazonaws.com/master-test/fapub_pdf/Local+Strategic+Planning+Statements/LSPS-A4-10-FINAL-V19.pdf
- Liverpool City Council. (2020c). *Liverpool City Centre Public Domain Master Plan* https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/development/major-projects/public-domain-master-plan
- Liverpool City Council. (2020d). Local Housing Strategy. https://www.liverpool.nsw.gov.au/development/planning-the-future

Morrison N & Van Den Nouwelant (2020) Western Sydney's urban transformation: examining the governance arrangements driving forward the growth vision. Australian Planner 56 (3) pp73-82 https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07293682.2020.1742172

- Morrison, N., Barns, S., Dunshea, A., Paine, G., Pry, J., Sajan, J., Thompson, S., & Van Den Nouwelant, R. (2021). *Making healthy place: NSW Built Environment Practitioners' persectives on placemaking opportunities that deliver health and wellbeing outcomes*. Maridulu Budyari Gumal.
- NSW Department of Planning Industry and Environment. (2021). *Explanation of Intended Effect for a Design and Place SEPP*.
- Penrith City Council. (2004). *Penrith Biodiversity Strategy*. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/waste-environment/environment/Biodiversity_Strategy.pdf</u>

Penrith City Council. (2007). Energy Savings Action Plan. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/policies/OPD004%20Energy%20Sa</u> <u>vings%20Action%20Plan.pdf</u>

- Penrith City Council. (2010). *Penrith Local Environmental Plan 2010*. <u>https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/html/inforce/current/epi-2010-0540</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2014). *Penrith Development Control Plan 2014*. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/building-development/planning-zoning/planning-controls/development-control-plans</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2015a). *Cooling the City Strategy 2015*. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/waste-</u> <u>environment/sustainability/Cooling The City Strategy.pdf</u>

Penrith City Council. (2015b). Sustainability Strategy. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/waste-</u> <u>environment/sustainability/Sustainability_Strategy.pdf</u>

- Penrith City Council. (2017a). Community Plan <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/council/our-organisation/Community_Plan.pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2017b). *Disability Inclusion Action Plan*. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/community-library/community/Disability Inclusion Action Plan Simplified.pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2017c). *Waste and Resource Strategy 2017- 2026*. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/waste-environment/waste/Penrith_Waste_Resource_Strategy.pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2018a). Penrith Health Action Plan.
- Penrith City Council. (2018b). Street and Park Tree Management Plan <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/waste-</u> <u>environment/environment/StreetParkTreeManagementPlan_2019_Elizabeth_Oct%202019.</u> <u>pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2018c). Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) Strategy. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/documents/policies/EH%20003%20Water%20S</u> <u>ensitive%20Urban%20Design%20(WSUD)%20Policy.pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2020a). Penrith Local Strategic Planning Statement <u>https://shared-drupal-s3fs.s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/master-test/fapub_pdf/Local+Strategic+Planning+Statements/LSPS+2020/Penrith+Local+Strategic+Planning+Statement+2020.pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2020b). Sport and Recreation Strategy. <u>https://www.penrithcity.nsw.gov.au/images/sport_rec_policy_a4_strategy_mar2020_v2_a</u> <u>ccess.pdf</u>
- Penrith City Council. (2021a). Draft Penrith Green Grid Strategy. https://www.yoursaypenrith.com.au/greengrid
- Penrith City Council. (2021b). Draft Resilient Penrith Action Plan. https://www.yoursaypenrith.com.au/project/resilient-action-plan
- The Department of Infrastructure, T., Regional Development and Communications,. (2020). *Western* Sydney City Deal. Retrieved April 2021 from <u>https://www.wscd.sydney/</u>
- UN-Habitat and World Health Organization. (2020). *Integrating health in urban and territorial planning: A sourcebook.*
- Watts, N., Amann, M., Arnell, N., Ayeb-Karlsson, S., & Beagley, J., et al.,. (2021). The 2020 report of The Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: responding to converging crises. *The Lancet*, *397*(10269), 129-170. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32290-x</u>

Western Sydney Health Alliance. (2021). Working Together for our communities and the Western Parkland City. Retrieved April 2021 from <u>https://wshealthalliance.nsw.gov.au/about-us/</u>

- Wollondilly City Council. (2011). *Wollondilly Bike Plan* <u>https://www.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/assets/Uploads/Wollondilly-Bike-Plan-Final-Report-</u> 2011.pdf
- Wollondilly Shire Council. (2011). *Wollondilly Local Environmental Plan*. <u>https://legislation.nsw.gov.au/view/whole/html/inforce/current/epi-2011-0085</u>
- Wollondilly Shire Council. (2016a). *Wollondilly Development Control Plan 2016*. <u>https://www.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/planning-and-development/guidelines-and-controls/development-control-plan/</u>
- Wollondilly Shire Council. (2016b). *Wollondilly Social Planning Strategy*. <u>https://www.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/assets/Documents/Council/Council-</u>

Documents/Reports-and-Discussion-Papers/Community/Wollondilly-Social-Planning-Strategy-Volume-One-Implementation-Plan-21-November-2016.PDF

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2017). Community Strategic Plan <u>https://www.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/assets/Documents/Council/Integrated-Planning-and-</u> <u>Reporting/WSC-Community-Strategic-Plan-17-18-to-2020-21.PDF</u>

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2020a). Draft Wollondilly Centres Strategy. https://www.yoursay.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/draft-commercial-centres-strategy

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2020b). Draft Wollondilly Local Housing Strategy. https://www.yoursay.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/draft-local-housing-strategy

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2020c). Draft Wollondilly Rural Lands Strategy. https://www.yoursay.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/draft-rural-lands-strategy

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2020d). Local Strategic Planning Statement <u>https://shared-drupal-s3fs.s3-ap-southeast-2.amazonaws.com/master-test/fapub_pdf/Local+Strategic+Planning+Statements/LSPS+2020/March+2020+-</u>

+Wollondilly+2040+Local+Strategic+Planning+Statement_S-1043.PDF

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2020e). Urban Tree Canopy and Landscape Plan <u>https://www.yoursay.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/draft-urban-tree-canopy-plan-landscape-</u> <u>strategy</u>

Wollondilly Shire Council. (2020f). Wilton Health and Wellbeing Strategy. <u>https://www.wollondilly.nsw.gov.au/assets/Documents-NEW/Planning-and-</u> <u>Development/Growth-in-Wollondilly/Wilton-Health-and-Wellbeing-Strategy-Adopted-15-</u> September-2020.pdf

Appendix 1

Figure 1. The eight Areas of Policy Action outlined in The Framework



The eight Areas of Policy Action outlined in the Framework, and the Policy Recommendations, outline the key actions that must be taken at the federal, state/territory and local level to achieve the vision of "a fair and environmentally sustainable national policy framework that recognises, manages and addresses the health risks of climate change and promotes health through climate change action."

IRCC Project: Review of Local Council Strategies for Climate, Health and Wellbeing in the Western Parkland City

Appendix 2

Organisation	Documents reviewed
Councils	
Blue Mountains City Council	 Blue Mountains 2040: Living Sustainably Blue Mountains Bike Plan 2020 Blue Mountains Community Strategic Plan 2035 Blue Mountains Development Control Plan 2015 Blue Mountains Local Environmental Plan 2015 Blue Mountains Local Housing Strategy Blue Mountains Pedestrian Access & Mobility Plan 2025, Carbon Abatement Action Plan (CAAP) Creative Strategy 2020-2027 Delivery Program 2017-2021 Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017-2021 Economic Development and Tourism Strategy Integrated Transport Strategic Plan 2035 Open Space and Recreation Strategic Plan2018–2028 Operational Plan Year Four 2020-2021 Rights of Nature Principles Rural Lands Planning Study Bushland Conservation Zone Report Statement of Recognition and Commitment Street Tree Masterplan Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategic Plan 2017-2021 Water Sensitive Blue Mountains Strategic Plan
Camden Council	 Built for Comfort Design Guide Camden Council Community Strategic Plan Camden Council Economic Development Strategy Growth and Prosperity Camden Council Local Strategic Planning Statement Camden Development Control Plan 2019 Camden Local Environmental Plan 2010 Camden Rural Lands Strategy Camden Town Centre Strategy Delivery Program 2017/18 to 2020/21 Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017 - 2021 Local Biodiversity Strategy Camden Local Government Area Local Housing Strategy Operational Plan (Budget) 2020/21 Spaces and Places Strategy 2020 Sustainability Strategy 2020-24 Waste Management Guideline

Organisation	Documents reviewed
Campbelltown City Council	 Campbelltown (Sustainable City) Development Control Plan 2015 Campbelltown 2027: Community Strategic Plan Campbelltown Bicycle Plan Campbelltown Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017-2021 Campbelltown Economic Development Strategy 2020 Campbelltown Local Environmental Plan 2015 Campbelltown Local Housing Strategy Campbelltown Local Strategic Planning Statement Campbelltown- Macarthur Collaboration Area Campbelltown Sustainability Strategy Delivery Program 2017-2021 Operational Plan 2020-2021 Reimagining Campbelltown City Centre Master Plan Sport and Recreation Strategy Waste Management Plan Wastewater Management and Water Recycling Strategy
Fairfield City Council	 2017/18-2020/21 Delivery Program 2020-2021 Operational Plan Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017-2021 Economic Development Strategy 2019 Update Fairfield Biodiversity Strategy Fairfield City 2040: A Land Use Vision: Shaping a Diverse City: Local Strategic Planning Statement Fairfield City Centres Study and Policy 2015 Fairfield City Development Control Plans Fairfield City Plan 2012-2022 Community Strategic Plan Fairfield Local Environmental Plan 2013 Fairfield Local Housing Strategy Fairfield Dpen Space Strategy Fairfield Rural Lands Urban Investigation Area Stormwater Management Policy
Hawkesbury City Council	 Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017-2021 Hawkesbury City Council Delivery Program 2017- 2021 The Hawkesbury 2036 It's Our Future Hawkesbury Community Strategic Plan Hawkesbury Development Control Plan 2002 Hawkesbury Local Environmental Plan 2012 Hawkesbury Local Housing Strategy Hawkesbury Local Strategic Planning Statement 2040 Hawkesbury Mobility Plan 2010 Bike Plan and Pedestrian Access and Mobility Plan Hawkesbury's Economic Development Strategy 2020 – 2025 Net Zero Emissions and Water Efficiency Strategy Operational Plan 2020-2021 Revitalising Our Town Centres of Richmond, South Windsor and Windsor

Organisation	Documents reviewed
Liverpool City Council	Cultural Strategy 2017-2021 Creative, Innovative and Culturally
	Distinct
	Delivery Program 2017-2021
	 Innovation Liverpool: An Innovation Strategy to support LCC's CSP to
	2027
	Liverpool Bike Plan 2018-2023
	Liverpool Biodiversity Management Plan 2012
	Liverpool Centres and Corridors Strategy
	Liverpool City Centre Public Domain Master Plan
	Liverpool City Council Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017 - 2021
	Liverpool City Council Energy Management Plan
	 Liverpool City Council Water Efficiency Plan Liverpool Collaboration Area
	 Liverpool Collaboration Area Liverpool Development Control Plan 2008
	 Liverpool Economic Development Strategy 2019-2029
	 Liverpool Local Environmental Plan 2008
	Liverpool Local Housing Strategy
	 Liverpool Rural Lands Study 2012
	 Local Strategic Planning Statement (LSPS) - Connected Liverpool 2040
	 Operational Plan 2020-2021
	 Our Home, Liverpool 2027 Community Strategic Plan
	Waste Avoidance and Resource Recovery Strategy
Penrith City Council	Cooling the City Strategy 2015
	Delivery Program 2017-22
	 Disability Inclusion Action Plan 2017-2021
	 Economic Development Strategy: Building the New West
	 Employment Lands Strategy
	Energy Savings Action Plan
	Greater Penrith Collaboration Area
	Operational Plan 2020-21
	Penrith Biodiversity Strategy
	Penrith City Centre Strategy & City Strategy
	Penrith City Council Community Plan
	Penrith Development Control Plan 2014
	Penrith Green Grid Strategy
	Penrith Health Action Plan
	Penrith Local Environmental Plan 2010 Penrith Local Heuring Structure
	Penrith Local Housing Strategy
	 Penrith Local Strategic Planning Statement: Planning for a Brighter Future
	 Penrith Rural Lands and Villages Study
	 Penrith Sport and Recreation Strategy
	 Penrith Waste and Resource Strategy (2017-2026)
	Resilient Penrith Action Plan
	Smart City Strategy
	Street and Park Tree Management Plan
	Sustainability Strategy and Strategy
	Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD) Policy

Organisation	Documents reviewed
Wollondilly Shire Council	 2020-21 Operational Plan and Budget Create Wollondilly: Community Strategic Plan 2033 Delivery Program 2017/18 - 2020/21 Natural and man-made hazards study Open Space, Recreation and Community Facilities Strategy Smart Shire Strategy Water Sensitive Urban Design Guidelines Wilton Health and Wellbeing Strategy Wollondilly 2011 Bike Plan, Wollondilly Active Transport Strategy Wollondilly 2040: A Vision for the Future of Wollondilly: Local Strategic Planning Statement Wollondilly Centres Strategy Wollondilly Development Control Plan 2016 Wollondilly Disability Inclusion Access Plan Wollondilly Integrated Water Management Strategy Wollondilly Local Environmental Plan 2011 Wollondilly Local Housing Strategy Wollondilly Rural Lands Strategy Wollondilly Social Planning Strategy Wollondilly Urban Tree Canopy Plan & Landscape Strategy Wollondilly Waste Management Strategy & Action Plan
Local Health Districts	
Nepean Blue Mountains Local Health District	Sustainability Plan 2019-2023
South Western Sydney Local Health District	 Sustainability Action Plan 2018-2021 Sustainability Report 2019/20 SWSLHD Climate Change Risk Discussion Paper

Appendix 3

Interview schedule

Professional characteristics

- 1. How long have you worked in your current role?
- 2. What is your area of expertise?
- 3. How long have you worked in this field?

Professional and organisational processes and polices

- 4. How are you, in your day-to-day role, involved in planning, implementing, or evaluating community health and wellbeing, disaster recovery, and climate risk and resilience or sustainability strategies?
- 5. How does your organisation manage planning, implementing, or evaluating community health and wellbeing, disaster recovery, and climate risk and resilience or sustainability strategies?
- 6. How does your organisation discuss climate risk and resilience?

Enablers and barriers

- 7. What enablers and barriers exist for planning, implementing, or evaluating community health and wellbeing, disaster recovery, and climate resilience or sustainability strategies?
- 8. What would overcome the barriers or promote the enablers?



CONTACT US

Western Sydney University Locked Bag 1797 Penrith NSW 2751 Australia